IN VITRO GENERATION OF TRANSPLANTABLE INSULIN-PRODUCING CELLS FROM CANINE ADIPOSE-DERIVED MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Veterinary Science and technology Common Course FACULTY OF VETERINARY SCIENCE Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2021 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University การสร้างเซลล์สังเคราะห์อินซูลินที่พร้อมปลูกถ่ายจากเซลล์ต้นกำเนิดมีเซนไคม์ของไขมันสุนัข



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาวิทยาศาสตร์ทางการสัตวแพทย์และเทคโนโลยี ไม่สังกัดภาควิชา/เทียบเท่า คณะสัตวแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2564 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	IN VITRO GENERATION OF TRANSPLANTABLE INSULIN-		
	PRODUCING CELLS FROM CANINE ADIPOSE-DERIVED		
	MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS		
Ву	Miss Quynh Le Dang		
Field of Study	Veterinary Science and technology		
Thesis Advisor	Assistant Professor Dr. CHENPHOP SAWANGMAKE, D.V.M.,		
	M.Sc., Ph.D		

Accepted by the FACULTY OF VETERINARY SCIENCE, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Master of Science

		Dean of the FACULTY OF VETERINARY		
		SCIENCE		
	(Professor Dr. SANIPA SURADHAT, D.	V.M., Ph.D.)		
THESIS COMMIT	TEE			
	() () () () () () () () () () () () () (Chairman		
	(Assoc. Prof. Dr. NOPADON PIRARAT, D.V.M., Ph.D., DTBVP)			
	2	Thesis Advisor		
	(Assistant Professor Dr. CHENPHOP S M.Sc., Ph.D)	SAWANGMAKE, D.V.M.,		
	Chulalongkorn Univ	Examiner		
	(Dr. NUTTHA KLINCUMHOM, D.V.M.,	Ph.D)		
		External Examiner		
	(Assoc. Prof. Dr. SIRIKUL MANOCHAN	ITR, Ph.D.)		

ชุนห์ ลี ดัง : การสร้างเซลล์สังเคราะห์อินซูลินที่พร้อมปลูกถ่ายจากเซลล์ต้นกำเนิดมีเซนไคม์ของไขมัน สุนัข. (IN VITRO GENERATION OF TRANSPLANTABLE INSULIN-PRODUCING CELLS FROM CANINE ADIPOSE-DERIVED MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : เจนภพ สว่าง เมฆ

เซลล์ต้นกำเนิดมีเซนไคม์จากสุนัขมีศักยภาพในการพัฒนาและนำมาใช้ประโยชน์สำหรับแนวทางการ ้รักษาแบบฟื้นฟู ซึ่งรวมไปถึงการสร้างเซลล์สังเคราะห์อินซูลินเพื่อใช้ในการศึกษาและรักษาเบาหวาน งานวิจัยนี้ จึงมุ่งเน้นในการพัฒนากรรมวิธีการสร้างเซลล์สังเคราะห์อินซูลินจากเซลล์ต้นกำเนิดมีเซนไคม์ที่ได้จากไขมันสุนัข และกระบวนการเพาะเลี้ยงเพื่อเก็บรักษาคุณภาพและพัฒนาให้เป็นเซลล์สังเคราะห์อินซูลินจากเซลล์ต้นกำเนิดมี เซนไคม์ที่ได้จากไขมันสุนัขที่พร้อมสำหรับการนำมาใช้ในทางคลินิกด้วยกรรมวิธีห่อหุ้มเซลล์สังเคราะห์อินซูลิน ้จากเซลล์ต้นกำเนิดมีเซนไคม์ที่ได้จากไขมันสุนัขด้วยสารก่อเจลอัลจิเนตร่วมกับพลูโรนิค เอฟ127 ผลการศึกษา พบว่าเซลล์ต้นกำเนิดมีเซนไคม์ที่ได้จากไขมันสุนัขสามารถเปลี่ยนแปลงเป็นเซลล์สังเคราะห์อินซูลินด้วยกรรมวิธี เหนี่ยวนำ 3 ขั้นตอน โดยขั้นตอนที่หนึ่ง พบว่าการใช้ Chir99021 ร่วมกับ Activin A สามารถผลักดันให้เซลล์ต้น กำเนิดเข้าสู่สภาวะเดฟฟินิทีฟเอนโดเดิร์ม ที่มีการแสงออกของยืน *ซอกซ์-17* ได้อย่างมีประสิทธิภาพ ในขั้นตอนที่ สอง พบว่าการเหนี่ยวนำเซลล์ในสภาวะเดฟฟินิทีฟเอนโดเดิร์ม ด้วย Taurine Retinoic acid FGF2 EGF TGF $m{eta}$ inhibitor Dorsomorphin Nicotinamide และ DAPT สามารถเพิ่มการเหนี่ยวนำให้เข้าสู่สภาวะแพนครีเอทิ กเอนโดเดิร์ม โดยการเพิ่มการแสดงออกของยืน *พิดีเอ็กซ์-1* และ *เอ็นจีเอ็น-3* ซึ่งเป็นเครื่องหมายพันธุกรรมใน สภาวะแพนครีเอทิกเอนโดเดิร์มได้อย่างมีนัยสำคัญ และในขั้นตอนสุดท้าย พบว่า Taurine Nicotinamide Glp-1 Forskolin PI3K-inhibitor และ TGF**B**-inhibitor สามารถเหนี่ยวนำเซลล์ในสภาวะแพนครีเอทิกเอนโดเดิร์ม เข้าสู่สภาวะของเซลล์สังเคราะห์อินซูลินได้อย่างมีประสิทธิภาพ จากนั้น เมื่อทำการห่อหุ้มเซลล์สังเคราะห์อินซูลิน จากขั้นตอนสุดท้ายและทำการเพาะเลี้ยงต่อ พบว่า เซลล์สังเคราะห์อินซูลินมีคุณสมบัติและประสิทธิภาพเพิ่มมาก ขึ้น เมื่อทำการเพาะเลี้ยงในอาหารเลี้ยงเซลล์ที่ถูกปรับปรุงขึ้นมาใหม่ VSCBIC-1 จากผลการทดลองดังกล่าว ้สามารถสรุปได้ว่ากรรมวิธีการเหนี่ยวนำ 3 ขั้นตอนนี้ มีศักยภาพในการเหนี่ยวนำเซลล์ต้นกำเนิดมีเซนไคม์ที่ได้ จากไขมันสุนัขให้เป็นแปลงเป็นเซลล์สังเคราะห์อินซูลิน และการห่อหุ้มเซลล์สังเคราะห์อินซูลินด้วยสารก่อเจลอัล ้จิเนตร่วมกับพลูโรนิค เอฟ127 ร่วมกับการเพาะเลี้ยงในอาหารเลี้ยงเซลล์ VSCBIC-1 สามารถช่วยฟื้นฟูและเพิ่ม ้ความสามารถในการทำงานของเซลล์สังเคราะห์อินซูลินจากเซลล์ต้นกำเนิดมีเซนไคม์ที่ได้จากไขมันสุนัขในหลอด ทดลองได้

สาขาวิชา	วิทยาศาสตร์ทางการสัตวแพทย์และ	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
	เทคโนโลยี	
ปีการศึกษา	2564	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก

6278503331 : MAJOR VETERINARY SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

KEYWORD:

canine adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cell (cAD-MSC), diabetes mellitus, encapsulation, insulin-producing cells (IPCs)

Quynh Le Dang : IN VITRO GENERATION OF TRANSPLANTABLE INSULIN-PRODUCING CELLS FROM CANINE ADIPOSE-DERIVED MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS . Advisor: Asst. Prof. Dr. CHENPHOP SAWANGMAKE, D.V.M., M.Sc., Ph.D

Canine mesenchymal stem cells (cMSCs) have potential applications for regenerative therapy, including the generation of insulin-producing cells (IPCs) for studying and treating diabetes. In this study, we established a useful protocol for generating IPCs from canine adipose mesenchymal stem cells (cAD-MSCs). Subsequently, in vitro preservation of pluronic F127coated alginate (ALGPA)-encapsulated cAD-MSC-derived IPCs was performed to verify ready-touse (RTU) IPCs. IPCs were induced from cAD-MSCs with the modulated three-stepwise protocol. The first step of definitive endoderm (DE) induction showed that the cooperation of Chir99021 and Activin A created the effective production of Sox17-expressed DE cells. The second step for pancreatic endocrine (PE) progenitor induction from DE indicated that the treatment with taurine, retinoic acid (RA), FGF2, EGF, TGF β inhibitor, dorsomorphin, nicotinamide (NIC), and DAPT show the significant upregulation of the PE precursor markers Pdx1 and Ngn3. The last step of IPC production, the combination of taurine, NIC, GLP-1, forskolin, PI3K inhibitor, and TGF $m{eta}$ inhibitor, yielded efficiently functional IPCs from PE precursors. Afterward, the maintenance of ALGPAencapsulated cAD-MSC-derived IPCs with VSCBIC-1, a specialized medium, enhanced IPC properties. Conclusion, the modulated three-stepwise protocol generates the functional IPCs. Together, the encapsulation of cAD-MSC-derived IPCs and the cultivation with VSCBIC-1 enrich the maturation of generated IPCs. MGKORN UNIVERSITY

Field of Study:

Academic Year:

technology 2021

Veterinary Science and

Student's Signature

iv

Advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, this research was supported by the ASEAN-Non ASEAN Scholarship 2019, Chulalongkorn University, and the 90th Year Anniversary Chulalongkorn University Fund for financial Support, and Veterinary Science and Technology Program for the knowledge.

Second, I would like to acknowledge to the chairman of thesis committee, Associate. Prof. Dr. Sirikul Manochantr (Ph.D.), and the committee members Associate. Prof. Dr. Nopadon Pirarat (D.V.M., Ph.D., DTBVP), Dr. Nuttha Klincumhom (D.V.M., Ph.D) for kindly providing valuable and useful comments to the study.

Next, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my thesis advisor, Assistant. Prof. Dr. Chenphop Sawangmake (DVM., MSc., PhD.) for giving me a chance to study and valuable knowledge to reach the success of this study. His advice and care helped me to face all the problems until I completed my research.

Fourth, I would like to express my appreciation to Professor Prasit Pavasant (D.D.S., Ph.D.), Professor Thanaphum Osathanon (DDS, PhD), and Ms Daneeya Chaikiawkeaw (B.Sc., M.Sc.), Center of Excellence for Regenerative Dentistry, Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University, for supporting and helping on research work; Mr. Noppadol Saardlam (B.Sc.), Immunology Research Center, Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University, for supporting on flow cytometry analysis; the Veterinary Stem Cell and Bioengineering Innovation Center (VSCBIC) (http://www.cuvscbic.com/), Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University, for providing research facility support.

Finally, for my family, I would like to express my deep gratitude to my family, my friends, and my seniors for the endless love, support, understanding and encouragement.

Quynh Le Dang

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ABSTRACT (THAI)	iii
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
Table Content	ix
Figure Content	X
CHAPTER I	1
INTRODUCTION	1
Importance and Rationale	1
Objectives of Study	3
Hypothesis	3
Conceptual framework	3
CHPATER แ	4
LITERATURE REVIEW CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY	4
Pathophysiology of diabetic mellitus	4
Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells	5
Pancreatic endocrine development and novel strategies of islet eta -cell produ	uction7
Encapsulation for regenerative medicines	10
CHAPTER III	13
MATERIALS AND METHODS	13

Specific aim 1: To establish the protocol for canine adipose-derived mesenchyma	əl
stem cells (cAD-MSC) induction toward mature insulin-producing cells (IPCs) in	n
vitro	13
Strategy 1a) Isolation and characterization of cAD-MSCs	13
Strategy 1b) Modifications of cAD-MSC-derived IPC production protocol in vitr	0
	14
Strategy 1c) Efficiency determination of modified cAD-MSC-derived IPC	
production protocol <i>in vitro</i>	16
Specific aim 2: To study the enriched culture media for preserving the double-	
layer encapsulated cAD-MSC derived IPCs	16
Strategy 2a) Application of encapsulation technique	16
Strategy 2b) Efficiency determination of enriched media on ALGPA-	
encapsulated cAD-MSC-derived IPCs' function and viability	17
Experimental plan	18
Detailed material and methods	19
Cell isolation, culture, and expansion	19
Flow cytometry อุนอาลากรณ์แหกวิทยาลัย	19
In vitro Multi-lineage differentiation	20
Alizarin Red S staining	20
Oil Red O staining	21
Alcian blue staining	21
DE induction	21
PE induction	22
IPC induction	22
Reverse transcription-quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR)	23

Immunocytochemistry2	26
Encapsulation	27
Maintenance of the alginate/Pluronic acid-encapsulated IPC's function	27
Live/dead staining2	27
Functional test for IPCs	28
Statistical analyses2	28
CHAPTER IV	<u>2</u> 9
RESULTS	29
Isolation and characterization of cAD-MSC2	29
Differentiation of cAD-MSCs into definitive endoderm (DE)	31
Differentiation of cAD-MSC derived DE into pancreatic endocrine (PE) precursors . 3	33
Differentiation of cAD-MSC derived PE into insulin-producing cells (IPCs)	37
Preservation of cAD-MSC derived IPCs encapsulated in pluronic F127/alginate	
layers	10
CHAPTER V	15
DISCUSSIONาหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย	15
CHAPTER VI	53
CONCLUSION	53
REFERENCES	54
VITA	59

Table Content

Table 1.	. Primers sequences	



Page

Figure Content

Pa	age
Figure 1 Insulin-producing differentiation protocols	. 15
Figure 2 cAD-MSC characterization	. 30
Figure 3 Generation of cAD-MSC-derived DE cells	. 33
Figure 4 Generation of cAD-MSC-derived PE cells	. 35
Figure 5 PE-related marker expression	. 37
Figure 6 Generation of cAD-MSC-derived IPCs	. 39
Figure 7 Functionality of cAD-MSC-derived IPCs	. 40
Figure 8 Morphological and viability evaluation of ALGPA-encapsulated cAD-MSCs-	
derived IPCs	. 42
Figure 9 Sustainable functionality of VSCBIC-1 on ALGPA-encapsulated cAD-MSCs-	
derived IPC maintenance	. 44

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Importance and Rationale

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a chronic, metabolic disease characterized by hyperglycemia due to decreasing insulin function and secretion, which leads to serious damages to heart, blood vessels, eyes, kidneys and nerves. Diabetes is not only a popular disease affecting 442 million people in 2014 worldwide and predicted a notably increasing trend, but also detected and expanding in companion animals, mostly dogs and cats, considering as a major cause of euthanasia especially for well-uncontrolled animals (Roglic, 2016; Niessen et al., 2017). There are two main types of diabetes, type 1 (T1DM) and type 2 (T2DM). The most popular type of diabetes in human (around 90-95%) and cats (80-95%) is T2DM which occurs when pancreatic β -cells fail to produce enough insulin for the demand of body due to insulin resistance in the peripheral tissues (Shulman, 2000; Rand et al., 2004; Chang-Chen et al., 2008; Artasensi et al., 2020). By contrast, T1DM is characterized by islet β -cells destruction as a result of the body's autoimmune processes leading to absolute insulin deficiency, which occupies at least 50% of diabetic dogs diagnosed by the presence of antibodies against islet β -cells (Rand et al., 2004).

Currently, some therapies are being applied in diabetes treatment such as insulin therapy, pancreas or islet transplantation. Islet transplantation, also called "Edmonton protocol", is considered as the most ideal method for treating T1DM and advanced T2DM cases, however, this approach has limitations (Aigha et al., 2018). The first difficulty is foreign-tissue rejection of the recipient's body, although immunosuppressive drugs can be used to solve this situation but causing long-term consequences. The second challenge is the availability of islet source. Therefore, insulin-producing β -like cell-derived stem cell production and ready-to-use (RTU) insulin-producing cell (IPC) transplantation platform have become the main focused

research points. Nowadays, any protocols of IPC induction derived from both human and animal pluripotent stem cells have been established and approved benefits on veterinary clinical application and human pre-clinical trials (D'Amour et al., 2005; Chandra et al., 2009; Gibly et al., 2011; Wong, 2011; Lilly et al., 2016; Vanikar et al., 2016). Simultaneously, delivery platforms for islet β -cell transplantation are still being explored and developed (Calafiore et al., 2006; Hwang et al., 2016; Vegas et al., 2016; Kuncorojakti et al., 2020). Nonetheless, obstacles on optimizing the protocol's efficiency and safety are still concerned.

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are one of the stem cell types and specifically possess immune-privileged and highly plastic which help them to become a wonderful and safe choice to generate differentiated cells for transplantation therapy (Pavathuparambil Abdul Manaph et al., 2019). The capacity of different sources of human MSCs (hMSCs) differentiating into IPCs has been shown in many previous papers (D'Amour et al., 2006; Zanini et al., 2011; Xu et al., 2020), while that of canine mesenchymal stem cells (cMSCs), especially canine adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells (cAD-MSCs), are still scarce. Mostly, the IPC induction protocols used for study on cMSCs are grabbed from the protocols on hMSCs and particular stages of differentiation procedure are not definitely separated and established (Teshima et al., 2020; Camara et al., 2021). Although IPCs can be produced from cAD-MSCs, their function is still limited. Thus, these restrictions of the present protocols have caused disadvantages for optimizing for each step of the cMSC-derived IPC induction protocol.

Therefore, this study is focused on establishing the induction protocol for cAD-MSCs toward mature IPCs *in vitro*. Besides, establishment of the enriched medium for preserving the double-encapsulated cAD-MSC-derived IPCs' function and viability is also considered to produce RTU cAD-MSC-derived IPCs for transplantation.

Objectives of Study

1. To establish the protocol for canine adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cell (cAD-

MSC) induction toward mature insulin-producing cells (IPCs) in vitro.

2. To study the enriched culture media for preserving the double-layer encapsulated cAD-MSC derived IPCs.

Hypothesis

1. cAD-MSCs can be induced toward mature IPCs in vitro.

2. The established enriched culture medium can preserve the double-layer encapsulated cAD-MSC derived IPCs.

Conceptual framework



CHPATER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

Pathophysiology of diabetic mellitus

DM is a complicated metabolic disease which is characterized by hyperglycosemia due to deficiency or impairment of the essential amount of endogenous insulin in blood. This is considered as a consequence of impairing islet β cell mass or losing its function. Moreover, people with diabetes are living with apprehension, fear and worry about diabetic-related health problems because longterm hyperglycemia can cause various serious damages to heart, blood vessels, eyes, kidneys and nerves. According to the data from global reports of World Health Organization (WHO), a significant rise in the number of people with diabetes was from 108 million in 1980 up to 422 million in 2014 and a total of 1.5 million deaths were due to diabetes (Roglic, 2016). The newest study of International Diabetes Federation in regard to the global diabetes prevalence showed the increasing estimation between 2019 and 2045 is from 463 million to 700 million based on epidemiological data (Saeedi et al., 2019). Concerning the veterinary field, the percentage of canine dogs has increased by 79.7% since 2006, while feline diabetes has grown by 18.1% at the same time according to a database of Banfield Pet Hospital in the United States (Molly McAllister, 2016). Two studies on canine diabetes in the United Kingdom (UK), the factors including age (over 8 years of age), female entire dogs, male neutered dogs, dogs with obesity, and certain breeds have significant effects on the risk of dogs developing DM (Mattin et al., 2014; Heeley et al., 2020). In another study on feline diabetes in the UK, the higher risks of diabetic cats were reported being obesity and age (over 6 years old) (O'Neill et al., 2016).

Almost all cases of DM are classified into two broad etiopathogenetic categories being T1DM and T2DM. An absolute deficiency of insulin secretion caused islet β -cell destruction or dysfunction is characterized for T1DM. Genetics and environmental

factors that cause autoimmune destruction of islet eta-cells are considered as main reasons for this type of DM. The risk of T1DM associated with the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) and non-HLA loci genetics has been identified (Noble, 2015). Besides, enterovirus infection, one of most common viruses all over the world, triggering the production of type I interferons (IFNs) and antiviral immune response relates to several candidate genes (IFIH1, TLR7/TLR8, FUT2 and GPR183) which confer T1DM risks (Ferreira et al., 2014; Bergamin and Dib, 2015). Otherwise, toxins in food and water, and other environmental factors might also be the cause leading to T1DM-associated autoimmune mechanisms (Rewers and Ludvigsson, 2016; Blanter et al., 2019). T2DM gives reasons for 90% of all cases of DM which is known to be insulin resistance of the body's cells. In this case, the pancreatic β -cells initially produce enough insulin, but it has not been absorbed by the body's organs resulting in unusual blood sugar levels. Overtime, islet β -cells are exhausted due to a compensatory increase in insulin secretion. Some risk factors leading insulin resistance are obesity, physical inactivity, a poor diet, smoking, and generous consumption of alcohol (Hu et al., 2001; Eckel et al., 2011). The exact mechanisms are still being explored, for example, an excess of adipose tissue is thought to cause the release of free fatty acids, called adipokines, which are signaling molecules that can cause inflammation. The increase of inflammation cytokines such as Interleukin (IL)-1eta, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-lpha and IFN- γ has demonstrated involvement in islet β -cell destruction (Barlow et al., 2018). Besides, genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have pointed out over 400 genes related with the risk of T2DM, for examples, Hnf1b, Pdx1, Ngn3, ABCC8, GCK, KCNJ11, Nkx6.1 (Krentz and Gloyn, 2020).

Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells

MSCs are adult stem cells derived from many various sources, such as bone marrow, adipose tissue, cartilage, dental pulp, umbilical cord and placenta. They have been widely studied over the past 30 years to obtain insights about their biological nature, extended clinical potential, and application of tissue engineering. MSCs have self-renewal capacity and intrinsic differentiation potentials (Han et al., 2017). Importantly, MSCs also possess low immunogenicity and strong immunomodulation prospects through hampering the expression of proinflammatory cytokines (TNF- α and IFN- γ) while enhancing the expression of suppressive cytokines (IL-10) and prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) (Aggarwal and Pittenger, 2005). Upon these excellent features, MSCs are considered as a safe regenerative medicine and focused on clinical trial studies.

AD-MSCs which is one of MSCs isolated from the stromal vascular fraction (SFV). Human AD-MSCs (hAD-MSCs) were clarified and characterized the self-renewal, proliferation, and differentiation properties (Zuk et al., 2002). The MSC surface markers express in AD-MSCs as CD73, CD44, CD90, and CD29 but not express markers of hematopoietic lineage cells such as CD45 (Huang et al., 2013). Beside MSC surface markers, stemness markers such as such as *Oct4*, and *Rex1* and proliferation marker (*Ki67*) are also characterized by hAD-MSCs (Baer et al., 2010; Paula et al., 2015; González-Garza et al., 2018). Moreover, previous studies published that hAD-MSCs could be promoted to express the specific pancreatic transcription factors such as *Pdx1, Isl1* and *Pax6*, this indicated AD-MSCs to be an ideal candidate for alternative cell therapy of DM because *Pdx1* and *Pax6* are found during pancreas development while *Isl1* is known as an enhancer binding to the promoter insulin gene (Timper et al., 2006; Dave et al., 2014). Thus, differentiation potential of AD-MSCs to IPCs have been demonstrated in many studies (D'Amour et al., 2006; Zanini et al., 2011; Xu et al., 2020).

For cAD-MSCs, several previous reports were showed that expression of CD73 and CD90 of cAD-MSCs just achieved at moderate levels compared to hAD-MSCs (Takemitsu et al., 2012; Chow et al., 2017; Ivanovska et al., 2017). In addition, expression of *Nanog* in the population of cAD-MSCs is fairly blurred as well as their differentiation

prospects into osteogenesis, chondrogenesis, and adipogenesis are illustrated (Neupane et al., 2008; Guercio et al., 2012; Kisiel et al., 2012). *In vitro* induction of cAD-MSCs to IPCs have performed and achieved a few of certain results, but this IPCs' function is still restricted (Teshima et al., 2020; Camara et al., 2021).

Pancreatic endocrine development and novel strategies of islet β -cell production

The pancreas contains two principal components comprising exocrine and endocrine compartments (Márquez-Aguirre et al., 2015). The exocrine pancreas involves acinar and duct cells, while endocrine pancreas is organized in clusters containing five cell types called islet of Langerhans. The five islet cell types including alpha, beta, delta, epsilon, and upsilon are secreting five typical hormones composed of glucagon, insulin, somatostatin, ghrelin, and polypeptide, respectively (Márquez-Aguirre et al., 2015).

For embryonic pancreas development, multiple signaling pathways and various cascades of transcription factors are tremendously essential to keep the correctly differentiation process of embryonic cells toward the appropriate pancreatic cells (Arda et al., 2013). The pancreatic development has been described in many previous reviews (Caronna et al., 2013; Jennings et al., 2015; Márquez-Aguirre et al., 2015). Primitive streak (PS)/mesendoderm (ME) specification from ESCs characterized by *Mixl1, Eomes,* and *Goosecoid (GSC)* genes is the first step of pancreatic development. Definitive endoderm (DE) formation is the next stage with the expression of *Gata4, Gata6, Cxcr4, Sox17,* and *Foxa2.* Then, DE develops into a gut tube which is divided into foregut, midgut, and hindgut. Posterior and anterior foregut develops into ventral and dorsal pancreatic buds which are formed by multipotent pancreatic progenitors (MPP). Exocrine cells and endocrine cells will be given rise from these MPPs. The endocrine cell specification requires the expression of *Po-endocrine gene Ngn3,* and then followed by several transcription factors such as *Nkx2.2, NeuroD1, Nkx6.1, Pax4, Pax6* and *Isl1* which controls pancreatic endocrine (PE) differentiation. Finally, the

endocrine progenitors differentiate into specific hormone secreting cells which aggregate together to form Langerhans islets.

Obviously, the recent strategies of IPC production are mimicking aspects of pancreatic development (Jacobson and Tzanakakis, 2017). In other words, stem cells are induced to IPCs by microenvironment manipulations which allows cells to be exposed with appropriate signals or molecules during the induction route corresponding to the stages of pancreatic development (Gheibi et al., 2020). Although several signaling pathways and small molecules have proved the roles in differentiation into IPCs, a lot of mystery is still undisclosed.

In DE differentiation stage, several findings have shown that the absence of PS formation in mouse embryos with the knockout of Nodal or Wnt signal (Zhou et al., 1993; Conlon et al., 1994; Liu et al., 1999; Barrow et al., 2007), while PS is known as a vital first differentiation step for the development of endoderm, mesoderm and ectoderm organogenesis development (Márquez-Aguirre et al., 2015). Activin A is a member of the TGF- β superfamily which has demonstrated and applied for many studies of IPC induction (D'Amour et al., 2005; D'Amour et al., 2006; Shim et al., 2007; Sawangmake et al., 2014a; Sawangmake et al., 2014b). Activin A induces Nodal signaling at high concentration (50-100 ng/mL) which stimulates the signaling event cascades regulating pancreatic development process during DE differentiation (Kubo et al., 2004; Shim et al., 2007). Alongside Activin A, the activation of Wnt pathway via Wnt3a or an inhibitor of glycogen synthase kinase-3eta (GSK-3eta) also enhances DE specification (Naujok et al., 2014; Teo et al., 2014; Huang et al., 2017). Chir99021 is known as GSK- $_{3}\beta$ inhibitor helping in Canonical Wnt signaling pathway activation which enhances the releasing and accumulation of eta-catenin inside the nucleus (Huang et al., 2017). In addition, these events allow the expression of *Mixl1, Eomes* and *GSC* genes to promote PS status (Naujok et al., 2014; Teo et al., 2014). After that, Activin A is used to suppress

expression of *Mixl1* as well as enhance the appearance of *GSC* and *Eomes* which regulates cells to express the DE-defined markers (Naujok et al., 2014).

Before pancreatic endocrine (PE) progenitor specification, MPPs are an important intermediate milestone. In MPP status, the expression of *Hnf1*b, *Hnf4a*, *Hnf6* (*Onecut1*), Ptf1a, Pdx1, Hes1, Sox9, and Nkx6.1 will be initiating and regulating expression of transcription factors to decide pancreatic cell fates (Arda et al., 2013). For example, Ptf1a which is commonly found in acinar cells has ability to control the expression of essential genes of other cells such as Pdx1, Nkx6.1, Ngn3 in PE progenitors, however, Nkx6.1 has the negative feedback by suppressing the presence of Ptf1a (Aigha and Abdelalim, 2020). Retinoid acid (RA) is a metabolite of vitamin A that can upregulate the expression of Pdx1 and Ptf1a through promoting the expression of Hnf1b and Fzd4 (Gere-Becker et al., 2018). Notochord factors including Activin-etaB and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF or FGF2) repress endodermal sonic hedgehog (Shh) to permit the upstream of Pdx1 and Insulin (Hebrok et al., 1998). According to previous studies, intermediate concentration of FGF2 induces pancreatic progenitor differentiation (Ameri et al., 2010). In addition, *Gli1*, a member of Shh pathway, inhibits the expression of Sox9 that is known a regulator of Nng3 while Gli2, another of Shh pathway, upregulates the expression of *Hes1* that is showed an inhibitor of *Ngn3* (Bien-Willner et al., 2007; Wall et al., 2009). Then, PE progenitors will express a load of genes such as Nkx2.2, Nkx6.1, Sox9, Pax4, NeuroD1, Isl1, MafB, Glut2, and especially Ngn3. Upregulation of Ngn3 is extremely important for driving cells in endocrine cell fates while co-expression of Nkx6.1 and Sox9 are a vital crucial for generation of Ngn3⁺ PE progenitors and maturation of IPCs (Aigha and Abdelalim, 2020). Therefore, the evidences shown that dorsomorphin as BMP inhibitor, SB431542 as TGF-eta inhibitor, nicotinamide (NIC), and RA can promote differentiation of Nkx6.1⁺ progenitors and then upregulate Ngn3 expression for supporting wonderful insights of endocrine induction protocol establishment (Öström et al., 2008; Zhu et al., 2011; Kunisada et al., 2012;

Shahjalal et al., 2014; Nostro et al., 2015). Furthermore, a γ -secretase inhibitor, DATP, is used to suppress Notch signaling pathway which downregulates the expression of *Hes1*, and consequently enhances the expression of *Ngn3* is significantly enhanced (Champeris Tsaniras and Jones, 2010; McCracken and Wells, 2012; Sawangmake et al., 2014a). In addition, epidermal growth factor (EGF) has evaluated its ability in expanding Pdx1⁺/Sox9⁺ expressed-pancreatic progenitors (Konagaya and Iwata, 2019).

The final step is IPCs' induction and maturation, matured IPCs are recognized by the expression of genes such as *Nkx6.1*, *Isl1*, *MafA*, *Glut2*, *Glp1r*, *Rfx6*, *NeuroD1*, *Glis3*, *Insulin*, and *Glucagon*. Forskolin is a mediate factor activating protein kinase (PKA) and protein kinase C (PKC) signaling pathway by converting Adenosine triphosphate (ATP) to dibutyryl adenosine 3',5'-cyclic AMP (cAMP) via adenylate cyclase receptor, which rises the pancreatic hormone secretion (Hermansen, 1985; Wan et al., 2004). Maintaining the inhibition of TGF- β signaling pathway via ALK5 receptor during PE progenitor differentiation toward IPCs enhances the increasing of *NeuroD1*, *Insulin*, and *Glucagon* and promotes the maturation of endocrine progenitors (Lee et al., 2020). Moreover, the signals which are activated by the ALK5 receptor can suppress the expression of *MafA* and *NeuroD1* because of the down-regulation of Foxo1 protein (Toren-Haritan and Efrat, 2015). Another factor is phosphoinositide 3-kinases (PI3K) inhibitor, LY294002, which also contributes the functional maturation of IPCs (Hori et al., 2002), but the mechanism detail of this pathway is still limited.

Encapsulation for regenerative medicines

Currently, the establishment of a suitable delivery platform for IPCs still remains. Encapsulation is an expectant strategy for cell-based therapy due to its advantages and applied potentials. The aims of encapsulation are to immobilize the implants as well as build a wall from the body's immune system. Hydrogel materials are special suitable for encapsulation of biological elements due to their biocompatibility and permeability as well as the ability of oxygen, nutrient and metabolic waste diffusion between inside and outside of membrane (Pérez-Luna and González-Reynoso, 2018). In a previous study, the formed membrane from 0.1-1% alginate has the pores with diameter range from 7.2-8.0 nm, thus the formed capsules will be restricted to 21-25 kDa of dextran and 78-103 of proteins, which is sufficient to prevent antibodies across the membrane (Dembczynski and Jankowski, 2001). However, the size of pores depends on concentration of alginate (Wang et al., 2009). According to these benefits, alginate has widely used and applied in biomedical science as well as a regenerative medicine. For whole islet or islet β -cell transplantation, alginate is an ideal material for creating the protective membrane. A trial on dogs as an animal model, the grafts of alginate-encapsulated islets can maintain their function during 174 days without using immunosuppression administration (Hwang et al., 2016). Moreover, the transplantation of alginate-encapsulation islets in mice models also showed a similar result, these implants can stabilize the blood glucose levels until their removal for 174 days with no immunosuppressive treatment before their removal (Vegas et al., 2016). The efficiency of alginate encapsulation against immunological reaction was also demonstrated in vitro, when alginate-encapsulated rat MSCs were cultured within media containing lymphocytes, the level of IL-2 which produced by the immune cells is low (Ramezanzadeh Andevari et al., 2018). Surprisingly, a previous report shown alginate encapsulation for human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) promotes differentiation into pancreatic islet cells, and alginate-encapsulated hESCs also shown the stronger differentiation toward pancreatic islet cells by increasing C-peptide protein synthesis about 20-fold more than the two-dimensional cultures (Richardson et al., 2014). However, a greatest obstacle is still existing as the protrusion of cells from monolayer capsules, which may cause the body's rejection or fibrotic response leading to the necrosis of cells inside capsules.

To prevent cell protrusion and improve the encapsulation technique, multilayer encapsulation is proposed. In 2006, a report showed that islets encapsulated with a poly-L-ornithine (PLO) and alginate-double layer can improve the blood glucose levels and maintain insulin response up to 1 year in 2 of 10 DM volunteers (Calafiore et al., 2006). Therefore, multilayer encapsulation is able to prevent cell's protrusion of inside cells and provide the second barrier for protecting transplanted grafts from the host immune system (Ramezanzadeh Andevari et al., 2018). Pluronic F127 is a hydrogel material with biocompatible potential, therefore, it is suitable for promising biomedical applications (Lippens et al., 2013). Importantly, our previous study was demonstrated that alginate and pluronic F127 encapsulation for human dental pulp stem cells (hDPSCs) could maintain cells' viability, in addition the double encapsulation for hDPSC-derived IPCs could preserve both IPCs' viability and function (Kuncorojakti et al., 2020).



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

CHAPTER III

MATERIALS AND METHODS

According to the main objectives, the methodology of the study was performed as described below.

Specific aim 1: To establish the protocol for canine adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells (cAD-MSC) induction toward mature insulin-producing cells (IPCs) *in vitro*

Strategy 1a) Isolation and characterization of cAD-MSCs

All experiment procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC), Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University. cAD-MSCs used in all experiments were derived from our cell bank. cAD-MSCs were harvested from biopsied adipose tissues. The surgery procedures were performed by veterinarians at the Department of Surgery, Small Animal Hospital, Chulalongkorn University with the owner's consent. The isolation, expansion and characterization of cAD-MSCs were modified from the previous report (Rodprasert et al., 2021). Cells in passage 2-4 were used for the experiments.

The isolated cells were further characterized by identifying mesenchymal cell surface markers (CD29, CD90, CD44 and CD73) and hematopoietic cell surface marker (CD45) with flow cytometry as well as defining the morphological appearance and mRNA expression of stemness markers (*Oct4, and Rex1*) and of proliferation marker (*Ki67*) using reverse transcription-quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR).

Additionally, *in vitro* differentiation potential properties of isolated cells were investigated including osteogenic, chondrogenic and adipogenic differentiation. These protocols are based on our previous reports (Nantavisai et al., 2020). For osteogenic differentiation, cells were seeded onto a 24-well plate and maintained in osteogenic induction medium for 14 days, and osteogenic cells were evaluated using Alizarin Red S staining. For adipogenic differentiation, cells were cultured in adipogenic induction media after seeding in 24-well plate for 28 days, then the lipid droplets of adipocytes were stained with Oil Red O. For chondrogenic differentiation, cells also were seeded onto 24-well plate and maintained in chondrogenic induction media for 21 days. The assessment of chondrogenic differentiation was examined by Alcian blue staining. In addition, osteogenic mRNA markers (*Runx2*, and *Ocn*), adipogenic mRNA markers (*Leptin*, and *LPL*), and chondrogenic mRNA markers (*Sox9*, and *Col2a1*) were measured by RT-qPCR. Undifferentiated cells were considered as a control.

The isolated cells with clarified MSC characterization were stored in a cell bank and used for the experiments.

Strategy 1b) Modifications of cAD-MSC-derived IPC production protocol in vitro

For production of cAD-MSC-derived IPC *in vitro*, the protocol was innovated from previous published studies (D'Amour et al., 2006; Chandra et al., 2009; Naujok et al., 2014; Sawangmake et al., 2014a; Sawangmake et al., 2020). The induction procedure of cAD-MSC-derived IPC *in vitro* from these reports are classified into 3 main stages (Figure 1A) including 1) definitive endoderm (DE), 2) pancreatic endocrine (PE) progenitors and 3) insulin-producing β -like cells (IPCs) whilst two stages consisting of mesendoderm (ME) and multipotent pancreatic progenitors (MPPs) were additionally established in this induction protocol (Figure 1B). Low attachment surface culture was used as a special technique allowing colony formation. After each stage of induction, related mRNA expression, morphological appearance, a total number of colonies and size of colony were assessed and chosen for verifying the next step of the induction procedure.



Figure 1 Insulin-producing differentiation protocols

Scheme of IPC differentiation protocol by 3 stages (A). Scheme of IPC different differentiation protocol by 5 stages (B).

For DE induction, Activin A through TGF- β signaling pathway plays an important role in directing stem cells to DE (D'Amour et al., 2005; Tada et al., 2005). Moreover, much evidence from previous research showed that the Wnt-canonical signaling pathway also plays a significant role in DE induction (Naujok et al., 2014; Teo et al., 2014). In this regard, the protocol of DE induction from cAD-MSC was carried out by treating with Wnt activator for 24 hours and then handled with Activin A for 48 hours. cAD-MSCs were induced to DE by only treating with Activin A as a control protocol. Expression trend of ME-related markers (*Mixl1, Eomes,* and *GSC*) and DE-specialized (*Gata4, Gata6, Cxcr4,* and *Sox17*) mRNAs were analyzed by RT-qPCR after 1 and 3 days.

As described in previous protocols, the removal of Activin A induces the progression from DE to PE (Guo and Hebrok, 2009). However, inhibition of TGF- β , Notch and BMP signaling pathways as well as the assistance of RA, NIC, FGF2 and EGF signals make a promotion for the induction to PE (Öström et al., 2008; Ameri et al., 2010; Kunisada et al., 2012; Sawangmake et al., 2014a; Jiang et al., 2017; Konagaya and Iwata, 2019; Tan et al., 2019). Therefore, DE clusters were induced to PE through the removal of Activin A and then the supplement of taurine as a control protocol, while new cocktail media consisted of SB431542, RA, DAPT, dorsomorphin, NIC, FGF2 and EGF was

manipulated for enhancing induction to PE progenitors. Expression tendency of pancreatic endoderm, primitive gut and posterior foregut-specialized markers (*Pdx1*, *Hnf1b*, *Hnf6*, *Hnf4a*), MPP-specialized markers (*Ptf1a*, *Sox9*, and *Nkx6.1*) and PE-specialized markers (*Nkx2.2*, *Pax4*, *Ngn3*, *NeuroD1*, *Isl1*, and *Glut2*), pre-mature marker (*MafB*), caNotch pathway-related marker (*Hes1*), a cell cycle regulator (*Cdkn1a*) were determined by RT-qPCR after 5 days and 8 days since the first day of DE induction.

Small molecules such as Glp-1 agonists, nicotinamide, taurine, forskolin, PI3K inhibitor, and TGF- β inhibitor have been demonstrated to make positive influences in the functional maturation of IPCs (Hori et al., 2002; Kunisada et al., 2012; Ohmine et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2020). Accordingly, a combination of all these reagents were utilized as an improved media to specify PE clusters into IPCs whilst a mixture only comprising Glp-1 agonists, NIC, taurine was considered as a control medium. Expression of pancreatic multipotent, pancreatic endoderm, and PE-specialized markers (*Nkx6.1*, *Pdx1, Ngn3, NeuroD1, Isl1,* and *Glut2*), mature endocrine-specialized markers (*Epac2,* and *Rfx6*) were measured by RT-qPCR after 13 days since the first day of DE induction.

Strategy 1c) Efficiency determination of modified cAD-MSC-derived IPC production protocol *in vitro*

To assess the maturation and functional capacity of cAD-MSC-derived IPCs, glucose-stimulated C-peptide secretion (GSCS) assay was done (Sawangmake et al., 2014a), C-peptide production will be investigated by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). In addition, the expression of intracellular insulin was evaluated by immunocytochemistry (ICC) staining.

Specific aim 2: To study the enriched culture media for preserving the doublelayer encapsulated cAD-MSC derived IPCs

Strategy 2a) Application of encapsulation technique

As described in the previous report, alginate/pluronic F127-based encapsulation can be applied for IPCs (Kuncorojakti et al., 2020). In this regard, cAD-MSC-derived PE at day 8 was wrapped in alginate beads upon alginate gelling formation in a 10mM CaCl₂ solution. cAD-MCS-derived IPC- contained alginate beads were covered with a layer of pluronic F127, these beads were put in pluronic acid solution at 4°C and then polymerization would occur at room temperature (RT). Then, double-encapsulated PE colonies were induced to mature IPCs and then were culture to maintain their function and viability within 3 different media.

Strategy 2b) Efficiency determination of enriched media on ALGPA-encapsulated cAD-MSC-derived IPCs' function and viability

To evaluate the efficiency of the enriched media for preserving the encapsulated cAD-MSC-derived IPCs, functional and viability assay were carried out during 2 weeks after the IPC induction protocol while cAD-MSC derived IPCs were used as a control. C-peptide production from the encapsulated cAD-MSC-derived IPCs was determined by ELISA after GSCS assay was done. To appraise cell viability, live/dead staining was performed before the results were observed under fluorescent microscope. Moreover, expression of pancreatic multipotent, pancreatic endoderm, and PE-specialized markers (*Nkx6.1, Pdx1, Ngn3, NeuroD1, Isl1,* and *Glut2*), mature endocrine-specialized markers (*Glis3, Glp1r, MafA, Insulin,* and *Glucagon*), hormone release-related markers (*Epac2,* and *Rfx6*), proliferation (*Ki67*) and cell cycle regulator (*Cdkn1a*) mRNA markers were measured by RT-qPCR after 27 days since the first day of DE induction.

Briefly, the experiments in this study are described as the following flowchart.

Experimental plan



Detailed material and methods

Cell isolation, culture, and expansion

The biopsied adipose tissues were collected and kept in 10 mL of Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (Thermo Fisher Scientific Corporation, USA) from various species of dog at Department of Surgery, Small Animal Hospital, Chulalongkorn University. These samples were washed with Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (Thermo Fisher Scientific) supplemented with 2% Antibiotics-Antimycotics (Thermo Fisher Scientific) twice. The tissues were minced into small species and then incubated in cell recovery solution (Corning, USA) overnight at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO₂. The mixture was filtered through 70 µm cell strainer (Corning) before centrifuging at 2000 g for 5 minutes. Cells were culture in DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Thermo Fisher Scientific), 1% GlutaMax (Thermo Fisher Scientific), and 1% Antibiotics-Antimycotics (Thermo Fisher Scientific) at 37°C in humidified air with 5% CO₂. Culture medium was changed every 2 days. When cells reached 70-80% confluence, they were trypsinized with 0.25% trypsin-EDTA (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for subculture and freezing. Cells in passage 2-5 were utilized for the experiments.

Flow cytometry จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

MSC-related surface markers were analyzed by flow cytometry. In particular, the cells were stained with FITC-conjugated mouse anti-human CD45 antibody (BioLegend, USA), mouse anti-human CD73 monoclonal antibody (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and FITC-conjugated goat anti-mouse immunoglobulin G (IgG) secondary antibody (BioRad, USA), PE-conjugated rat anti-dog CD90 monoclonal antibody (eBioscience, USA), Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated rat anti-dog CD44 antibody (BioRad), PE-conjugated mouse anti-human CD29 monoclonal antibody (Bio Legend). FITC-conjugated mouse IgG1 kappa Isotype (BioLegend), mouse IgG2a kappa Isotype (Thermo Fisher Scientific), PE-conjugated rat IgG2b kappa Isotype (eBioscience), Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated r

Isotype (BioRad), PE-conjugated mouse IgG1 kappa Isotype (BioLegend) were used as isotype controls. The results were analyzed using a FACScalibur flow cytometer with CellQuest software (BD Bioscience, USA).

In vitro Multi-lineage differentiation

For adipogenic differentiation, 5×10^4 cells were seeded in a 24-well culture plate and cultured in adipogenic differentiation medium for 28 days. The adipogenic differentiation medium was be contained with 0.1 mg/ml insulin (Sigma-Aldrich, USA), 1µM dexamethasone, 1 mM 1-Methyl-3-isobutylxanthine (IBMX) (Sigma-Aldrich), and 0.2 mM indomethacin (Sigma-Aldrich) in the growth medium (Sawangmake et al., 2014b; Nantavisai et al., 2020).

For osteogenic differentiation, the protocol was carried out following our previous reports (Sawangmake et al., 2014a; Nantavisai et al., 2020). cAD-MSCs were seeded into a 24-well culture plate (Corning) at concentration of 2.5×10^5 cells/well and induced to osteogenic cells for 14 days. Basal medium was used for preparing osteogenic induction medium by supplemented with 50 mg/mL ascorbic acid, 100 mM dexamethasone (Sigma-Aldrich, USA), and 10 mM β -glycerophosphate (Sigma-Aldrich).

According to our previous chondrogenic differentiation protocol (Sawangmake et al., 2014b; Nantavisai et al., 2020), 50,000 cells were divided into each well of a 24well culture plate and differentiated into chondrogenic cells. The induction medium is basal medium consisting of 0.1 μ M dexamethasone, 50 mg/ml 2-dihydrogen phosphate-L ascorbic acid (AA2P) (Sigma-Aldrich), 40 mg/ml S-Pyrrolidine-2-carboxylic acid (Sigma-Aldrich), 1% insulin-transferrin-selenium (ITS) (Thermo Fisher Scientific), 15% FBS, 10 ng/ml of transforming growth factor (TGF)- β 3 (Sigma-Aldrich), and 2% antibiotics-antimycotics for 21 days.

Alizarin Red S staining

After osteogenic induction, the cells will be stained with a 0.5 % Alizarin Red S solution (Sigma-Aldrich) for 30 minutes at room temperature (RT) after washed with

PBS solution and fixed in 10% paraformaldehyde for 15 minutes (Sawangmake et al., 2016). Non-stained dye will be washed out with distilled water. The images will be taken by an invert microscope.

Oil Red O staining

After 28 days of adipogenic induction, the cells were washed with PBS and fixed in 10% paraformaldehyde for 30 minutes at RT. The cells were rinsed with 60% isopropanol for 2-5 minutes and then incubated with Oil Red O working solution for 10 minutes (Eom et al., 2018). Finally, the cells were washed with distilled water several times and the images were obtained under the light microscope.

Alcian blue staining

The chondrogenic differentiated cells were washed with PBS and then fixed with a cool 10% paraformaldehyde for 15 minutes at RT. Subsequently, they were incubated overnight with 1% alcian blue solution (pH 2.5) and then rinsed with 0.1N HCl for 3 times followed by PBS (Voga et al., 2019). The images were taken by an inverted microscope.

DE induction

When cAD-MSC reached 70-80% confluence, they were collected by trypsinization. Concentration of 10⁶ cells were used for each DE induction condition. Two protocols were applied.

Protocol 1.1 (P.1.1): cells were induced in serum free media (SFM)-DMEM containing 1X ITS, 50 μ M β -mercaptoethanol (Sigma-Aldrich), 1 mM sodium butyrate (Sigma-Aldrich), 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Sigma-Aldrich), and 4 nM Activin A (Sigma-Aldrich) for 3 days (Sawangmake et al., 2014a).

Protocol 1.2 (P.1.2): cells were induced in SFM-DMEM supplemented 1X ITS, 50 μ M β -mercaptoethanol, 1 mM sodium butyrate, 1% BSA, and 3 μ M Chir99021 (Sigma-Aldrich) for 1 day. After that, the medium was changed to protocol 1.1 medium and maintained for next 2 days (Naujok et al., 2014).

The induced cells were collected on day 1 and day 3 to evaluate related mRNA markers. Morphology of colonies, size and total number of colonies were assessed on day 3 of post-induction.

PE induction

After choosing the best potential DE induction protocol, the DE cells from those protocols were induced into PE with three different protocols.

Protocol 2.1 (P.2.1): DE cells were differentiated in SFM-DMEM and added 1% BSA, 1X ITS, and 0.3 mM taurine (Sigma-Aldrich) for 5 days.

Protocol 2.2 (P.2.2): DE cells were differentiated in SFM-DMEM added 1% BSA, 1X ITS and 0.3 mM taurine, 20 ng/ml FGF2 (Sigma-Aldrich), and 2 μ M RA (Sigma-Aldrich) for 2 days, and then medium was changed to SFM-DMEM added 1% BSA, 1X ITS and 0.3 mM taurine, 2 μ M RA, 10 mM NIC (Sigma-Aldrich), 1 μ M dorsomorphin (Sigma-Aldrich), 10 μ M SB431542 (Sigma-Aldrich), 25 μ M DAPT (Sigma-Aldrich), and 50 ng/ml EGF (Sigma-Aldrich) for 3 days.

Protocol 2.3 (P.2.3): DE cells were differentiated in SFM-DMEM added 1% BSA, 1X ITS and 0.3 mM taurine, 20 ng/ml FGF2, 2 μ M RA, and 50 ng/ml EGF for 2 days, and then medium was changed to SFM-DMEM added 1% BSA, 1X ITS and 0.3 mM taurine, 2 μ M RA, 10 mM NIC, 1 μ M dorsomorphin, 10 μ M SB431542, and 25 μ M DAPT for 3 days.

Related mRNA markers, morphology of colonies, size and number of colonies were assessed on day 5 and day 8 since the first day of DE induction.

IPC induction

When PE induction protocol was verified, PE cells were continually differentiated toward IPCs after they were encapsulated with 2% alginate (Sigma-Aldrich). Two different media were utilized to induce PE cells to IPCs for 5 days.

Protocol 3.1 (P.3.1): SFM-DMEM supplemented 1.5% BSA, 1X ITS, 3 mM taurine, 100 nM glucagon-like peptide-1 (Glp-1) (Sigma-Aldrich), and 1 mM NIC, and 1X non-essential amino acids (NEAA) (Sigma-Aldrich).

Protocol 3.2 (P.3.2): SFM-DMEM supplemented 1.5% BSA, 1X ITS, 3 mM taurine, 100 nM Glp-1, 1 mM NIC, 1X NEAA, 10 μ M Forskolin, 10 μ M SB431542, and 10 μ M LY294002 (Sigma-Aldrich).

Related mRNA markers, morphology of colonies, size and number of colonies along with IPCs' function were measured on day 13 since the first day of DE induction.

Reverse transcription-quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR)

The total cellular mRNA was extracted by TRIzol[™] reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and Direct-Zol RNA Miniprep kit (ZymoResearch, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Then, the complementary DNA (cDNA) was collected upon reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) of collected mRNA using ImProm-II[™] Reverse Transcription System (Promega, USA). For quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR), targeted genes were amplified and detected by FastStart Essential DNA Green Master (Roche Diagnostics, USA) and CFX96 Touch Real-Time PCR detection system (Bio-Rad, USA) with the specific primers which show in Table 1. The expression of mRNA was demonstrated as relative mRNA expression by normalizing with glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (*Gapdh*) as the reference gene.

Table	1.	Primers	sequences	

Cono	Accession	Converses	F' 2'	Length	Tm	
Gene	number	sequences	c- c	(bp)	(°C)	
Stemness markers						
0.14	NAL 500000 4	Forward	AGGAGAAGCTGGAGCAAAACC	100	60.55	
Oct4	XM_538830.1	Reverse	GTGATCCTCTTCTGCTTCAGGA	100	59.50	
		Forward	AGGTTCTCACAGCAAGCTCA	199	59.24	
Rex1	XM_003639567.1	Reverse	CCAGCAAATTCTGCGCACTG		60.73	
Proliferatio	on marker					
		Forward	GTGCAACTAAAGCACGGAGA		58.49	
Ki67	XM_014108788.1	Reverse	GAGATTCCTGTTTGCGTTTTCGT	124	58.49	
Cell cycle	regulator					
		Forward	GACTTTCCCCACTGCCCTAC	100	60.04	
Cdkn1a	XM_532125.6	Reverse	GCCCTATCCACAGCGTCTAC	108	59.97	
Osteogenia	r markers					
	XAA 005(40225 4	Forward	GGAAGAGGCAAGAGTTTCACC	000	58.84	
Runx2	XM_005642335.1	Reverse	GTGCTCACTTGCCAACAGAA	209	58.89	
		Forward	GCCAGCCTATGGTCTCCTCTG	240	61.90	
UCN	XM_547536.4	Reverse	CCACCAGCTCCTTCTGTTCTCT	249	54.55	
Adipogenic makers						
l sustin	NIM 001002070 1	Forward	TGTGGCTTTGGCCCTATCTG	147	60.03	
Leptin	NM_001003070.1	Reverse	CAGCGACCCTCTGTTTGGAG		60.67	
	XM_005635734.3	Forward	CTGGAGAGACTCAGAAAAAGGTAAT	148	58.29	
LPL		Reverse	TCCTTCTGTAGATTTGCTCAGGT		59.16	
Chondroge	enic markers					
6	VAL 005 (00750 0	Forward	AGAAGGATAAGTACACGCTGCC	130	60.16	
50x2	XIM_005659752.2	Reverse	TTCATGTGCGCGTAGCTGTC		61.35	
Cal2a11		Forward	ATGAAAGACTGCCTCAGCCC	4.0.0	60.03	
C0(2011	NM_001006951.1	Reverse	TCTGTCCCTTTGGTCCTGGT	105	60.40	
Mesendod	ermal markers					
Mix11	VM 022417067 1	Forward	ACCCCTCAGTCCCCTGATTT	120	60.18	
IVIIX(1	AWI_022417907.1	Reverse	TCAGGGAGCTGGTGGTATGA		59.96	
Former	VM 005624227 2	Forward	CAGTCGAGAAGGGCAGAAAG	161	58.28	
Eomes	⊼M_005634337.3	Reverse	GGAGGTTGACCGAAAAAGCA		58.69	
GSC	XM_005623927.2	Forward	TGGAACAAGACCTCGTCCAAG	135	59.93	

		Reverse	TCTTTGTCCCCTGACCATCG		59.39
Definitive	endoderm markers				
<u> </u>			TCCCCACAAGGCTACACATC		59.38
Gata4	NM_001048112.1	Reverse	ATGCAGTGATTATGTCCCCGT	112	59.51
Catal	VM 00040170F 1	Forward	TACAGCAAGATGAACGGCCT		59.39
Gatab	XIM_022421725.1	Reverse	GGTTCACCCTCCGCATTTCT	140	60.32
Cuert	NINA 001048026 1	Forward	GTTGAGGCTGTGGCAAACTG	101	59.97
CXCI4	NM_001048026.1	Reverse	GTAGACCACCTTTTCCGCCA	100	59.96
Cov(17		Forward	GGGGGAGAAAAATGTGGGGT	75	59.88
SOX17	XIM_544084.5	Reverse	GGGTTCTGACAACGCAACTG	15	59.69
Pancreatio	c endoderm marker		S.S. P.P. J.		
D-h-1		Forward	AAGTCTACCAAGGCTCACGC	201	60.04
Paxi	NM_001284471.2	Reverse	GTGCCTCTCGGTCAAGTTCA	201	59.97
Primitive	gut and posterior fore	gut markers			
		Forward	TGCTATTGAACTGAGCCACACA	470	60.22
Hnf1b	XM_005624790.3	Reverse	AAGGGGAATGGAGGGGCAAT	170	61.23
		Forward	CCCCAAACCCTGGAGCAAAC	108	61.47
Hnf6	Hnf6 XM_846134.5	Reverse	TTGGGTGTGTTGCCTCTATCC		60.00
	VAA 000400005 4	Forward	GCGACCTGCTGTTTGATGGT	105	61.24
Hnf4a	XM_022408885.1	Reverse	GGAGGCGTGATAGCCAGATAG		59.80
Multipote	ent pancreatic progeni	tor markers			
		Forward	GAACAGCCAAAGTGTGGACC	00	59.33
Ptf1a	XM_845293.4	Reverse	ACTCAAAGGGCGGTTCGTTT	90	60.46
		Forward	CAGCACAAGAAAGACCACCC		59.05
Sox9	NM_001002978	Reverse	GAAATGTGCGTCTGTTCGGT	107	59.13
		Forward	CAGGAGTTATGCAGAGCCCG		60.53
Nkx6.1	XM_544960.5	Reverse	ACGTGGGTCTCGTGTGTTTT	111	60.11
caNotch p	oathway-related gene				
		Forward	GAGAAGGCGGACATTCTGGA		59.46
Hes1	XM_025478075.1	Reverse	ACCTCGTTCATACACTCGCTG	137	60.14
Pancreatio	c endocrine markers				
		Forward	GACACCAACGACGAGGAAGG		60.67
Nkx2.2	XM_542867.6	Reverse	AGCGCGTATATGGGTTGTCG	169	60.60
		Forward	GCCCCTTAGACCTTGCTCTG	114	60.11
Pax4	XM_022427277.1	Reverse	CTGCTTGGGCAGGATTAGGT		59.74
Ngn3	XM_546140.1	Forward	TCTGAGCAAGCAGCGACG	177	60.43
		Reverse	AGCGCCCAGATGTAGTTGTG		60.39
------------	----------------------	---------	------------------------	-----	-------
NeuroD1	XM_005640377.3	Forward	AGTTCGAGAAGAGCTACGCC	155	59.55
		Reverse	CTCGTGATGCGAATGGCTCT		60.53
Isl1	XM_848628.4	Forward	TGGCTTACAGGCAAACCCAG	171	60.54
		Reverse	GACATCGACGCCACTTCACT		60.39
Glut2	XM_545289.5	Forward	ACTCATCACAGGACGTGGAG	108	59.11
		Reverse	AGCTGAGTGTAGCGGTGAAG		59.76
Pre-mature	e endocrine marker				
MafB	XM_005635059	Forward	TGCCCAGTGGTGACCTAAAC	105	59.89
		Reverse	AAGGACGCGCTTGAAAGTTG		59.69
Mature par	ncreatic endocrine m	arkers	SILLA -		
Glp1r	XM_014118246.1	Forward	CACGGTGGGCTATACACTCTC	116	59.93
		Reverse	AGGACGCAAACAGGTTCAGG		60.54
MafA	XM_003431814.3	Forward	GCTTCAGCAAGGAGGAGGTC	136	60.39
		Reverse	CTCTGGAGCTGGCACTTCTC		60.11
Glis3	XM_022421745.1	Forward	CAGGTCTTGTAGGCCTTGGG	109	60.04
		Reverse	GCTGGTCGTGGACATCAAAC		59.48
Insulin	NM_001130093.1	Forward	CGGCTTCTTCTACACGCCTA	202	59.55
		Reverse	GCGCCCCTAGTTGCAGTAAT		60.46
Glucagon	NM_001003044.1	Forward	TCCAATCGCGGTGTCAGAAG	197	60.39
		Reverse	ACCCTGAGAATGACGCTTGT		59.31
Hormone r	elease-related marke	ers			
Rfx6	XM_022419390.1	Forward	TGTTTAGGGCACAGCCTCAC	154	60.25
		Reverse	TAGCTGGAAGGTGGTCGAGA		59.96
Epac2	XM_014110689.1	Forward	GAACGATCCAGTGAAGATGTGG	174	59.07
		Reverse	GCCAGGACAGCATACCAGTT		60.04
Reference	marker				
Gapdh	NM_001003142.1	Forward	CCAACTGCTTGGCTCCTCTA	100	59.38
		Reverse	GTCTTCTGGGTGGCAGTGAT		59.67

Immunocytochemistry

IPC colonies were fixed in cold methanol for 15 min at RT, then permeabilized with 0.1% Triton-X100 (Sigma) in PBS. After that, the background was blocked with 10% donkey serum on PBS for 1 hour. The primary antibodies, rabbit anti-insulin (Cell

signature technology, USA) at dilution 1:200 and mouse anti-rat glucagon (Abcam, USA) at dilution 1:200, were added and incubated overnight. Then, cyanine (Cy) 3-conjugated donkey anti-rabbit IgG (Bio Legend) and FITC-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (Bio-Rad) were used as secondary antibodies, respectively. After incubation with secondary antibodies for 2 hours, DAPI was used to stain the nucleus. The results and images were acquired using a fluorescent microscope equipped with Carl ZeissTM Apoptom.2 apparatus (Carl Zeiss, Germany).

Encapsulation

The protocol of colony encapsulation was followed by a previous report (Kuncorojakti et al., 2020), cAD-MSC-derived colonies were harvested and resuspended in 2% alginate solution. Sterile polystyrene syringe and 22G needle were used to generate alginate beads. Drops of beads were collected in 100mM CaCl₂ (Sigma-Aldrich) under stirring condition, and then washed by Krebs-Ringer- Hepes (KRH) containing CaCl₂ buffer. For double-layer encapsulation, a cold solution of 30% pluronic F127 was added to cover all surfaces of alginate beads at RT.

Maintenance of the alginate/Pluronic acid-encapsulated IPC's function

Subsequently of IPC induction, three different media were applied to consider the ability of the IPCs' function and viability *in vitro*. Medium 4.1 (M.4.1) is basic DMEM. Medium 4.2 (M.4.2) is an IPC induction medium (P.3.2) and 10 μ M LY294002. Medium 4.3 (M.4.3) is VSCBIC-1 which was prepared following our previous study (Soedarmanto, 2020).

Live/dead staining

Encapsulated cAD-MSC-derived IPCs were evaluated for their viability using the NUCLEAR-ID Blue/Red cell viability reagent (GFP-CERTIFIED) (Enzo Life Science, USA), according to the manufacture protocol. The result was clarified under fluorescent microscopy (Carl Zeiss).

Functional test for IPCs

Generated IPCs or encapsulated IPCs were assessed by glucose-stimulated Cpeptide secretion assay (GSCS). The IPCs were incubated in normal KRH bicarbonate (KRBH) adjusted pH 7.4 (120 mM NaCl, 5 mM KCl, 2.5 mM CaCl₂, 1.1 mM MgCl₂ and 25 mM NaHCO₃) for 1 hour as basal control, then in 5.55 mM of glucose anhydrous (Sigma-Aldrich) in KRBH for the next 1 hour and finally in 22 mM glucose anhydrous in KRBH for 1 hour. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (Millipore) was used to detect the amount of generated C-peptide level based on manufacturing protocol. Total DNA (ng) and stimulation time (mins) were exercised to normalize the concentration of C-peptide.

Statistical analyses

The total number of colonies and their size were determined using ImageJ software. The results were illustrated by dot plot (n=4) using GraphPad Prism 9.0 (Graph Software Inc., San Diego, CA). SPSS statistics was utilized to analyze the results. Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare significant differences for two experiment groups while Kruskal-Wallis was employed to test for three or more experiment groups. Statistically significant difference is recognized if p-value <0.05.

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

Isolation and characterization of cAD-MSC

cAD-MSCs showed adherent-dependent and fibroblast-like cells on the 2 dimensions (2D) culture (Figure 2A). The mRNA expression of stemness markers (*Oct4* and *Rex1*) and proliferative marker (*Ki67*) were detected by RT-qPCR (Figure 2B). In addition, MSC-related surface markers using flow cytometry revealed the strong expression of CD29 and CD90, moderate expression of CD44, low expression of CD73, but absent expression of CD45 (Figure 2C).

Moreover, *in vitro* multi-differentiation potential toward adipogenic, osteogenic, and chondrogenic lineages was observed. cAD-MSCs dramatically upregulated adipogenic-related genes (*Leptin* and *LPL*) while the production of lipid droplets was detected by Oil Red O staining (Figure 2D). Regarding osteogenic differentiation, the substantial upregulation of *Runx2* and *Ocn* was indicated upon exposed cells in osteogenic induction medium and osteocyte-produced calcium deposits were recognized by Alizarin Red S staining (Figure 2E). For chondrogenic differentiation, the upregulation of the *Col2a1* gene was significantly disclosed, and glycosaminoglycan accumulation was stained with Alcian blue (Figure 2F).

Thus, the isolated cAD-MSCs show homogeneous appearance and the differentiation potential toward other cell lineages.





Morphological appearances of cAD-MSCs were observed under a light microscope with magnification of 4X, 20X, and 40X (**A**). The mRNA expression of stemness markers (*Oct4*, and *Rex1*) and a proliferation marker (*Ki67*) were analyzed by RT-qPCR (**B**), normalized with the reference gene (*Gapdh*). Expression of surface markers exhibiting MSC property were revealed using flow cytometry (**C**). Adipogenic differentiation potential at day 28 post-induction was stained with Oil Red O, and adipogenic related-mRNA expression was determined (**D**). Osteogenesis was confirmed using Alizarin Red S staining at day 14 post-induction, and the expression of osteogenic mRNA markers were assessed (**E**). Chondrogenic differentiation potential at day 21 post-induction was demonstrated by Alcian blue staining, and chondrogenic mRNA markers were determined (**F**). The expression of mRNA genes related to multilineage differentiation was normalized with the reference gene and the undifferentiation control. Bars indicates the significant differences (*, *p* value <0.05).

Differentiation of cAD-MSCs into definitive endoderm (DE)

First, formation of DE, a germ cell layer, is an essential initiation step for giving rise to pancreatic cells (Kubo et al., 2004; Shim et al., 2007). DE were generated from cAD-MSCs using DE induction media supplemented with Activin A alone for 72 hours (P.1.1) or Chir99021 for first 24 hours and following with Activin A for 48 hours (P.1.2) (Figure 3A). Small three-dimension (3D) clusters were formed from dissociated cAD-MSCs cultured in suspension for 24 hours, then size and density of colonies were increased (Figure 3B). On day 3, the total colony counts (medium) were 1610.75 and 1637.25 colonies per batch (1×10^6 seeding cells) in P.1.1 and P.1.2 groups, respectively (Figure 3C). Interestingly, the distribution of size-based colonies showed that the small-to-medium colony size ($100-299 \mu m$) occupied the most population in both protocols, and P.1.2 yielded significantly more medium-size colonies ($300-499 \mu m$) than P.1.1 (Figure 3D).

Levels of mRNA expression related to mesendoderm (ME) and DE were analyzed and compared to undifferentiated cells. The ME-related markers (*Eomes* and *GSC*) in P.1.2 showed the upregulated expression in a time-dependent manner (Figure 3E). In contrast, the expression of *Mixl1* was upregulated in P.1.1, while P.1.2 was downregulated. For the DE-related markers, both protocols upregulated all genes comparing with undifferentiated control (Figure 3F). However, P.1.2 was able to increase the expression of *Gata4*, *Gata6*, and *Sox17* on the last day of DE induction.

Generally, the result revealed that the cooperation of Chir99021 and Activin A is effectively on the generation of DE from cAD-MSCs with small-size and the crucial DErelated markers.



Figure 3 Generation of cAD-MSC-derived DE cells

The diagrams of two protocols used for the induction of cAD-MSC derived DE cells are shown in (A). Differentiation of morphological appearances of cAD-MSCs toward DE cells was observed at day 1, and 3 (B). The total colony number (C) and the distribution of colony sizes (D) were evaluated. The expression of mRNA markers relating to mesendoderm status (E), and definitive endoderm status (F) were analyzed by RT-qPCR at day 1, and 3 post induction. Relative mRNA expression was normalized with the reference gene, and the undifferentiation control. Bars indicates the significant differences (*, p value <0.05; **, p value <0.01; ***, p value <0.001).

Differentiation of cAD-MSC derived DE into pancreatic endocrine (PE) precursors

Pancreatic endocrine (PE) stage is the vital second stage on pancreatic development process according to its important roles in cell fate modulation on DE cell toward pancreatic cell types (Arda et al., 2013; Aigha and Abdelalim, 2020). In this part, three established protocols were explored; P.2.1, P.2.2, and P.2.3 (Figure 4A). All protocols exposed the 3D floating colonies which became bigger and denser along the culture period (Figure 4B). All protocols showed the similar trend of total colony count between each protocol group, however, there were gently decreasing by the induction day (Figure 4C). For the sized-based colony number, the number of colonies was mostly found in 100-299 µm, nevertheless, the large-size colonies were slightly increasing during the induction period (Figure 4D).

Except for the *Glut2* gene, the expression of other mRNA markers relating to the development of PE precursors exhibited significant differences among the protocols. Compared to the undifferentiated cells and DE cells on day 3, the expression of pancreatic endoderm marker (*Pdx1*) was upregulated in groups treated with P.2.2 and P.2.3 on day 5 and day 8, while there was not detected in P.2.1 (Figure 5A). The expression of *Hnf1b*, *Hnf4a*, and *Hnf6*, known as primitive gut and posterior foregut markers, was upregulated on day 5 and day 8 post-induction in P.2.2 and P.2.3 (Figure 5B). The multipotent pancreatic progenitor (MPP) marker (*Ptf1a*) was upregulated on day 5 in three protocols, however, the trend of *Ptf1a* downregulation was found in

P.2.2 and P.2.3 on day 8 (Figure 5C). On other hand, P.2.2 and P.2.3 exhibited the upregulation trend of the other MPP markers (*Sox9* and *Nkx6.1*) on the last day of PE induction (Figure 5C). All of the protocols showed the increased expression of the PE-related mRNA markers such as *Nkx2.2*, *Pax4*, *Ngn3*, *NeuroD1*, and *Isl1* on day 8, compared to undifferentiated cells (Figure 5D). On day 8, it is noticed that the highest expression of *Nkx2.2* and *NeuroD1* was found in P.2.1, whereas the greatest expression of *Ngn3*, a master key for endocrine specification, was found in P.2.3. In addition, the immature pancreatic endocrine marker, *MafB*, was tremendously upregulated in P.2.2 and P.2.3 displayed the significant downregulation of *Hes1*, Notch target gene, on the last day of PE induction (Figure 5F). Besides, compared with cAD-MSCs, P.2.1 increased the expression of *Cdkn1a*, a cell cycle regulator, on day 8, while the decreased expression was observed in P.2.2 and P.2.3 (Figure 5G).

Regarding all the results, the new combination of signaling modulators supports the PE development. Importantly, the obtained PE cells from P.2.3 showed the greatest PE-related mRNA expression.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University





The diagrams of three protocols used for the induction of cAD-MSC-derived PE cells are shown in (A). Differentiation of morphological appearances of cAD-MSCs toward PE cells was observed at day 3, 5 and 8 (B). The total colony number (C) and the distribution of colony sizes (D) were evaluated. Bars indicates the significant differences (*, p value <0.05; **, p value <0.01; ***, p value <0.001).



Figure 5 PE-related marker expression

The expression of mRNA markers relating to pancreatic endoderm (**A**), primitive gut and posterior foregut (**B**), pancreatic multipotent progenitor (**C**), endocrine precursors (**D**), immature pancreatic endocrine (**E**), caNotch pathway target gene (**F**), and a cell cycle regulator (**G**) were analyzed by RTqPCR at day 3, 5 and 8 post induction. Relative mRNA expression was normalized with the reference gene, and the undifferentiation control. Bars indicates the significant differences (*, *p* value <0.05; **, *p* value <0.01; ***, *p* value <0.001).

Differentiation of cAD-MSC derived PE into insulin-producing cells (IPCs)

Last induction, two cocktail media were established to effectively induce functional IPCs from PE precursors; formulas of P.3.1 and P.3.2 are defined in Figure 6A. PE colonies on day 8 were encapsulated in alginate gels, then the encapsulated PE were induced toward IPCs. Both protocols were still showing a 3D colony morphology during IPC induction period (Figure 6B).

Except for *Nkx6.1* gene, the mRNA expression of PE progenitor-related markers (*Pdx1, NeuroD1, Isl1, Ngn3,* and *Glut2*) was upregulated in P.3.2, compared to undifferentiated cells and PE cells on day 8 (Figure 6C). Conversely, the downregulation trend of *Nkx6.1, NeuroD1, Isl1* was found in P.3.1 compared to PE cells (Figure 6C). The expression of mature endocrine markers, including *Glis3, MafA, Insulin,* and *Glucagon,* was upregulated in both of protocols, compared with those from undifferentiation cells and PE cells (Figure 6D). However, the highest expression of mature endocrine markers was explored in P.3.2. Furthermore, P.3.2 showed the upregulation of hormone release-related markers (*Epac2* and *Rfx6*), compared to undifferentiated cells and PE cells (Figure 6E). Although P.3.1 showed the trend of increasing *Rfx6* expression, the downregulation of *Epac2* was found in this protocol (Figure 6E).



Figure 6 Generation of cAD-MSC-derived IPCs

The diagrams of two protocols used for the induction of cAD-MSC derived IPCs are shown in (A). Differentiation morphological appearances of cAD-MSCs toward IPCs were observed at day 8 and 13 post induction (B). The expression of mRNA markers relating to PE precursors (C), mature endocrine progenitors (D), hormone release-related markers (E). Relative mRNA expression was normalized with the reference gene, and the undifferentiation control. Bars indicates the significant differences (*, p value <0.05; **, p value <0.01; ***, p value <0.001).

At day 13 of IPC induction, cAD-MSC-derived IPCs in both P.3.1 and P.3.2 were further evaluated the functional potential regarding the production of C-peptide upon glucose stimulation at two different concentrations, 5.5 mM and 22 mM. The findings showed that IPCs in both the protocols yield C-peptide under a basal condition, the higher production of C-peptide was found in P.3.2 (Figure 7A). Moreover, IPCs secreted C-peptide in concentration-dependent manner upon high (22 mM) glucose stimulation, compared to those from basal control and P.3.1 (Figure 7A). In addition, immunocytochemistry staining was employed to confirm the expression of the crucial pancreatic islet-related hormones, insulin and glucagon. The result suggested that the expression of these proteins was observed on cAD-MSC-derived IPCs in both protocols on day 13 post induction (Figure 7B).

Taken together, the results suggested that P.3.2 which used forskolin, PI3K inhibitor, and TGF- β inhibitor could have more positive effects on IPCs' maturation from cAD-MSC-derived PE cells.



Figure 7 Functionality of cAD-MSC-derived IPCs

C-peptide secretion was determined by glucose-stimulated C-peptide secretion (GSCS) assay (A). The expression of Insulin and Glucagon by cAD-IPCs was detected by immunocytochemistry on day 13 by immunocytochemistry and observed under fuorescent microscope ZEISS Apotome.2 (Carl Zeiss, Germany) incorporated with Axio Observer Z1 and ZEN pro sofware (ZEISS International, Germany) (B). Bars indicates the significant differences (*, p value <0.05; **, p value <0.01; ***, p value <0.001).

Preservation of cAD-MSC derived IPCs encapsulated in pluronic F127/alginate layers CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

It is essential to generate ready-to-use (RTU) IPCs for in vivo application. Maintenance of ALGPA-encapsulated cAD-MSC-derived IPCs *in vitro* is required. Hence, three different media were chosen to the ALGPA-encapsulated cAD-MSC-derived IPCs *in vitro* after 13 days of IPC induction process (Figure 8A). M.4.1 is normal DMEM, M.4.2 is an IPC induction medium (P.3.2), and M.4.3 is VSCBIC-1, our specialized medium (Soedarmanto, 2020). PE progenitors on day 8 would be double encapsulated in ALGPA instead of only alginate. Morphological changes were observed for 2 weeks after day 13 of IPC induction process (Figure 8B). Damaged IPCs were not found in ALGPA, but the colonies became smaller in all three media. All maintenance media showed the viability of ALGPA-encapsulated cAD-MSC-derived IPCs until day 27 by live/death staining (Figure 8C). Conversely, the mass of non-viable cells was lower detected in M.4.3, while the signal of dead cells expanded in M.4.1 and M.4.2 along the maintenance period. In addition, cAD-MSC-derived IPCs on day 27 in M.4.2 and M.4.3 exhibited the upregulation trend of PE mRNA markers (*Nkx6.1, Pdx1, Isl1,* and *Glut2*) compared IPCs from 13 and IPCs from M.4.1 (Figure 9A). Although the decreasing of *Ngn3* and *NeuroD1* was found in all media compared with IPCs on day 13, M.4.3 showed the insignificant decline (Figure 9A). Interestingly, the increasing of *Nkx2.2* was showed in M.4.1 (Figure 9A). In other hand, the upregulation of mature endocrine markers (*Glis3, MafA, Insulin, Glucagon,* and *Glp1r*) and hormone release-related markers (*Epac2,* and *Rfx6*) was explored in M.4.2 and M.4.3 compared with undifferentiated cells, IPCs from day 13, and IPCs from M.4.1 (Figure 9B,C). Although the proliferation marker, *Ki67,* of IPCs was lower expressed in M.4.2 and M.4.3 than M.4.1, the upregulation of a cell cycle regulator, *Cdkn1a,* was found in M.4.2 and M.4.3 groups (Figure 9D,E).

The functional property was evaluated by the level of C-peptide secretion (Figure 9F). The result showed the trend of concentration-dependent response upon 22 mM glucose stimulation in M.4.2 and M.4.3 groups, while M.4.1 exhibited the releasing of C-peptide level response to 5.5 mM glucose stimulation. Additionally, the protein expression of Insulin and Glucagon was done using immunocytochemical staining. The result confirmed that both hormones were detected in all maintenance media (Figure 9G).

According to the results, the utilization of VSCBIC-1 reveals the preservation effect of ALGPA-encapsulated cAD-MSC-derived IPCs together with the maturation of produced IPCs.





The cAD-MSC-derived IPC induction diagram and media maintaining IPCs encapsulated in ALGPA are shown in (A). ALGPA-encapsulated cAD-MSCs-derived IPCs' morphological appearances were observed at day 13, 16, 19, 22, 25, and 27 post induction (B). The viability evaluation of encapsulated cAD-MSC-derived IPCs was determined by live/dead staining (C).



20 10-5-

0 0 0 4 0 0

∢





M.4.3

M 4 2 PC_Day 27





ш

۵

Figure 9 Sustainable functionality of VSCBIC-1 on ALGPA-encapsulated cAD-MSCsderived IPC maintenance

The expression of mRNA markers relating to PE precursors (**A**), mature endocrine progenitors (**B**), hormone-release-related markers (**C**), a proliferation marker (**D**), and a cell cycle regulator (**E**) were analyzed by RT-qPCR at day 27 post induction. C-peptide secretion was determined by glucose-stimulated C-peptide secretion (GSCS) assay (**F**). The expression of Insulin and Glucagon by cAD-IPCs was detected on day 27 by immunocytochemistry and observed under fluorescent microscope ZEISS Apotome.2 (Carl Zeiss, Germany) incorporated with Axio Observer Z1 and ZEN pro software (ZEISS International, Germany) (**G**). Relative mRNA expression was normalized with the reference gene, and the undifferentiation control. Bars indicates the significant differences (*, p value <0.05; **, p value <0.01; ***, p value <0.001).



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

The concept of stem cell therapy holds gigantic promise for treating diabetes (Aggarwal and Pittenger, 2005), MSCs provides an auspicious platform to produce clinically applicable IPCs (Soria et al., 2000; Lindner et al., 2010; Hass et al., 2011; Betts and Tobias, 2015; Duan and Lopez, 2018; Gabr et al., 2018; Grohová et al., 2019). In this study, cAD-MSC induction protocol toward mature IPCs and the enriched medium for preserving AGLPA-encapsulated cAD-MSC-derived IPCs was established to produce RTU IPCs. The cAD-MSCs were isolated, cultured, and expanded following our previous report (Rodprasert et al., 2021). These isolated cAD-MSCs were then defined following the previous published studies and International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT) (Dominici et al., 2006; Kolf et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2016; Ivanovska et al., 2017; Nantavisai et al., 2019), they presented fibroblast-like cell shape, adherent to culture plastic. In addition, pluripotent markers Oct4 and Rex1 were expressed, which reflects the multipotent and proliferative properties (Kolf et al., 2007; Nantavisai et al., 2019). Furthermore, MSCs were required to exhibit CD73, CD90, CD44, and CD29 surface markers, and lack expression of CD45 marker (Dominici et al., 2006; Kim et al., 2016; Ivanovska et al., 2017). Similar to our result, other previous studies also illustrated low expression of CD73 on various types of cMSCs, even on MSCs of some other animals (Ivanovska et al., 2017; Nantavisai et al., 2020). It is noted that CD73 expression could be different among various sources and species. Moreover, the isolated cells showed capacity toward adipogenic, chondrogenic, osteogenic differentiation as same as previous studies (Kirkham and Cartmell, 2007; Grzesiak et al., 2011; Molly McAllister, 2016; Sawangmake et al., 2016; Sasaki et al., 2018; Nantavisai et al., 2019; Teshima et al., 2019). All these evidences reflect the potential and homogeneity of the isolated cAD-MSCs.

Currently, various differentiation protocols of IPCs were published (Hori et al., 2002; D'Amour et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2009; Champeris Tsaniras and Jones, 2010; Zhu et al., 2011; Tan et al., 2019). The strategies of these protocols were established on embryonic stem cells (ESC) and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC). However, ESC and iPSC encounter ethical issues and safety concerns (Pavathuparambil Abdul Manaph et al., 2019). Compared to ESC and iPSC, MSCs which known as adult stem cells, offer a good candidate for IPC generation (Pavathuparambil Abdul Manaph et al., 2019). The MSC-based protocols mainly comprise of three differentiation stages (Sun et al., 2007; Sawangmake et al., 2014a; Pavathuparambil Abdul Manaph et al., 2019; Sawangmake et al., 2020; Rodprasert et al., 2021). The different stages for MSCs are DE, PE progenitors, and IPC maturation. Although IPCs could be produced from cAD-MSCs with the simple three-stepwise protocol (Sawangmake et al., 2014a; Sawangmake et al., 2020), their function is still hampered (Rodprasert et al., 2021). Here, we illustrated that the modified three-stepwise protocols could improve the *in vitro* functional IPC differentiation from cAD-MSCs.

As the first step of IPC-derived MSCs, DE formation is a prerequisite for generating efficient pancreatic lineage from MSC (Al Madhoun et al., 2016). In previous studies, Activin A and Chir99021 were known as the potential small molecules on DE development (D'Amour et al., 2005; Sawangmake et al., 2014a; Sawangmake et al., 2020; Rodprasert et al., 2021). Although the independent utilization of Chir99021 and Activin A could induce DE from stem cells (Kunisada et al., 2012; Illing et al., 2013; Naujok et al., 2014; Teo et al., 2014), the cooperation of Chir99021 and Activin A could optimize for inducing DE cells (Naujok et al., 2014; Teo et al., 2014). Here, Chir99021, a strong indirect activator of the canonical Wnt-pathway via inhibition of GSK-3 β signaling pathway, allows MSCs differentiate into ME, a mesendoderm lineage (Naujok et al., 2014; Teo et al., 2014). Subsequently, DE is induced from ME by treating with Activin A which is known as an endogenous noggin (Kubo et al., 2004; D'Amour et al.,

2005; Tada et al., 2005; Shim et al., 2007). The cascade of ME specification before DE is considered as physiologically relevant (Wlizla and Zorn, 2015). In this study, the expression of ME markers, *Eomes* and *GSC*, was found the significant upregulation after treating Chir99021 for 24 hours. The later generation of DE was defined by Activin A through the upregulated expression of *Sox17*, *Gata4*, *Gata6*. Together, these results demonstrated that Chir99021 synergizes Activin A to effectively generate DE cells from cAD-MSCs.

Next, DE cells from previous step were induced into PE cells. Importantly, PE progenitors represent a critical step of in vitro IPC differentiation (Jennings et al., 2015; Márquez-Aguirre et al., 2015). In natural pancreatic development, it is required the development of DE into primitive gut, posterior foregut, and PE precursors, respectively (Caronna et al., 2013; Jennings et al., 2015; Márquez-Aguirre et al., 2015). Our study found that the combination of small molecules in PE induction medium, which consisted of taurine, retinoic acid (RA), FGF2, EGF, SB431542, dorsomorphin, nicotinamide (NIC), and DAPT, show the positive outcome, especially P.2.3. Here, the group treated with taurine alone revealed the hasty differentiation by the greater expression of endocrine precursor markers (Nkx2.2, Pax4), however, they showed the lowest expression of Pdx1 and Nkx6.1, pancreatic endoderm and multipotent progenitor markers, which could cause the undesired commitments of the cell's fates (Zaret and Grompe, 2008; Jiang and Morahan, 2011). It is noticed that EGF, fibroblast growth factor, could promote the proliferation of Sox9/Pdx1-positive pancreatic progenitors (Konagaya and Iwata, 2019). We found that the using of EGF in early pancreatic differentiation (P.2.3) resulted the most efficient induction of Ngn3-positive PE precursors, while the using of EGF in late pancreatic differentiation stage (P.2.2) confined the differentiation of Ngn3-positive PE cells. Previous study reported that the presence of EGF was able to repress the differentiation of PE cells (Cras-Méneur et al., 2001). In several research on vertebrates, the important role of RA in pancreatic

developments were detailly described (Öström et al., 2008; Mattin et al., 2014), while FGF2, a factor of notochord, is required to initiate for pancreatic development by inhibiting Shh expression (Hebrok et al., 1998; Ameri et al., 2010; McCracken and Wells, 2012). Our result also defines the role of RA and FGF2 in the early pancreatic development by showed the increased expression of the primitive gut and posterior foregut markers (Hnf1b, Hnf4a, Hnf6) and pancreatic endoderm marker (Pdx1). Combination of RA, dorsomorphin, and SB431542 achieved the effective commitment on Pdx1-positive cell induction (Kunisada et al., 2012). Also, another previous study showed that the cocktail including EGF, BMP inhibitor, and NIC boosted the induction of Nkx6.1, another crucial regulator of pancreatic islet development (Nostro et al., 2015). DAPT, known as an inhibitor of Notch signaling pathway, directly represses the expression of Hes1 (Notch targeted gene) (Gomez et al., 2015). Transcription of Hes1 gene inhibits the promotion of Ngn3 gene (Lee et al., 2001), while Ngn3 expression is essentially required for endocrine cell development (Gomez et al., 2015). Our previous studies proved that the inhibition of Notch signaling during PE induction benefits IPC generation from MSCs (Sawangmake et al., 2014a; Rodprasert et al., 2021). Although RA could also suppress the Hes1 expression indirectly (Öström et al., 2008), further analyses are still required. BMP antagonism dorsomorphin inhibited Smad1/5/8 phosphorylation to expand the levels of Insulin expression which were affected the production of essential hormone "Insulin" in β -cell development process (Mfopou et al., 2010; Nostro et al., 2011). Moreover, the inhibitor of TGF-eta type I receptor, SB431542, also promotes the increased expression of Insulin (Nostro et al., 2011). Interestingly, our discovery revealed that the upregulation of Sox9, Nkx6.1, Pax4, NeuroD1, Isl1, and Ngn3 was found by combined treatment with RA, SB431542, dorsomorphin, NIC, and DAPT. Furthermore, our study also found that a modified medium P.2.3 restricted the expression of *Cdkn1a*, a cell cycle regulator, during PE induction process. Cdkn1a was known that it plays a critical role in the cellular

mediation by the overexpression of *Cdkn1a* results in cell cycle arrest (Bendjennat et al., 2003). Therefore, the suppression of this marker means the healthy and proliferative ability of IPCs. However, the further evaluation is still required. In summary, cAD-MSC-derived PE progenitors could be enriched when cAD-MSC-derived DE cells were treated with the combination of taurine, RA, FGF2, and EGF for 2 days, and then the mixture of taurine, RA, SB431542, dorsomorphin, NIC, and DAPT for 3 days.

Regarding the natural pancreatic development, PE cells can give rise to all types of pancreatic islets (alpha, beta, delta, epsilon, and upsilon) (Caronna et al., 2013; Jennings et al., 2015; Márquez-Aguirre et al., 2015). Therefore, the generation of islet β -like cells which can secrete insulin responding to glucose stimulation, is the aim of in vitro IPC induction (Gabr et al., 2018), (Caronna et al., 2013; Jennings et al., 2015; Márquez-Aguirre et al., 2015). Unfortunately, cAD-MSC-derived PE colonies tend to lose their shape and decrease their number after the PE induction process (not shown data), this problem was also found in a previous study (Jara et al., 2020). Meanwhile, the entrapment of 3D-PE organoids not only maintains their shapes, but also improves their differentiation property and hormone synthesis (Richardson et al., 2014; Jara et al., 2020; Legøy et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2020a). Hence, cAD-MSC-derived PE colonies were encapsulated in alginate gel before they were induced to IPCs. In this study, the functional IPC generation was found when PE precursors were treated with the mixture of taurine, NIC, Glp-1, NEAA, forskolin, LY294002, and SB431542. Forskolin and Glp-1 play an important role in insulin releasing process via the membrane adenylate cyclase (AC) cascade to covert ATP to cAMP, then modulate insulin secretion via PKA and PKC pathway by forskolin directly stimulates AC, while Glp-1 will stimulate after the binding to its receptor (Hermansen, 1985; Wan et al., 2004; Leech et al., 2011). Moreover, the inhibition of SB431542 via he TGF- β /ALK5 pathway could induce the expression of MafA and NeuroD1 because of the upregulation of Foxo1 protein (Leech et al., 2011).

The inhibition of phosphoinositide 3-kinases (PI3K)/AKT pathway, LY290042, also potentiates the functional maturation of IPCs (Hori et al., 2002; Aoyagi et al., 2012). Here, MafA, Insulin, and Glucagon were the essential markers for islet maturation (Adams et al., 2018), while Glut2, Epac2 and Rfx6 were reported to increase the IPCrelated hormone secretion capacity (Hermansen, 1985; Wan et al., 2004; Leech et al., 2011; Piccand et al., 2014; Thorens, 2015). Interestingly, we found that the expression of MafA, Insulin, Glucagon, Glut2, Epac2 and Rfx6 were upregulated in cAD-MSCderived IPCs treated with P.3.2 (the combination of taurine, NIC, Glp-1, NEAA, forskolin, LY294002, and SB431542). Subsequently, the trend of concentration-dependent response upon 22 mM glucose stimulation was also discovered. Moreover, the higher expression of Ngn3 was found on day 13 compared to PE at day 8, thus this cocktail, named "P.3.2" could stimulate the production of PE precursors alongside the mature IPCs. Hence, the IPCs on day 13 contained not only mature IPCs but also Ngn3expressing PE cells, the similar results were also found in earlier studies (Hwang et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2020b; Xu et al., 2020). These evidences indicate that cAD-MSC-derived PE can more likely to undergo differentiation into IPCs by treatment with the combination of taurine, NIC, Glp-1, NEAA, forskolin, LY294002, and SB431542.

The entrapment of IPCs in alginate not only maintains 3D-floating colony shape, but also enhances differentiation and hormone synthesis (Richardson et al., 2014; Jara et al., 2020; Legøy et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2020a). Besides, the aims of encapsulation are to immobilize the implants as well as build a wall from the body's immune system for *in vivo* application (Yang et al., 2015). Several previous studies were reported that the encapsulation of pancreatic islet, IPCs from ESC and iPSC using alginate could maintain the viability and functionality both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Wang et al., 2009; Richardson et al., 2014; Westenfelder et al., 2017; Kojayan et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2019; Legøy et al., 2020). However, a greatest obstacle of monolayer capsule is the protrusion of cells. Our previous study showed that ALGPA-encapsulated hDPSC- derived IPCs can be preserved their viability and functionality (Kuncorojakti et al., 2020). Thus, ALGPA encapsulation may solve protrusion of IPCs and create favorable conditions for clinical treatments. In this study, we hypothesized that the *in vitro* preservation of ALGPA-encapsulated cAD-MSC-derived IPCs can provide the availability of IPCs for *in vivo* application requirements.

Here, three media were employed to investigate the preservation of ALGPAencapsulated cAD-MSC-derived IPCs; normal DMEM, M.4.2, and M.4.3 (VSCBIC-1). The specialized medium, VSCBIC-1, maintain the morphology, viability, and functionality of mouse islets (Soedarmanto, 2020). In addition, VSCBIC-1 could resuscitate the impaired islets derived from gut leak-induced IL-10 knockout mice (Soedarmanto, 2020). Excitingly, the result showed that the best-preserved viability and function of ALGPAencapsulated cAD-MSC-derived IPCs in VSCBIC-1 after 13 days of IPC induction protocol. Moreover, the maintained upregulation of Ngn3 was also found in VSCBIC-1. Likewise, it has been reported that taurine, an essential amino acid, affects the pancreas development, enhances and maintains the endocrine function, and increases the size and number of the islets (El Idrissi et al., 2009). Also, NIC, a form of vitamin B, acts as a poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitor that is used to promote MSCs homing functional PE/IPCs and preserve the islet viability and function by protection of NAD⁺/NADH ratio (Yang et al., 2015; Woodford et al., 2020). Thus, both taurine and NIC are used during differentiation into PE/IPCs and in vitro preservation. Which both small molecules were contained in both M.4.2 and M.4.3. On other hand, our observations suggested that the long-term induction with forskolin, LY294002, and SB431542, resulted in over-maturation of cAD-MSCs-derived IPCs as the extremely higher expression of markers in regard to IPC's maturation by the lower expression of Ngn3 and the tremendously highest C-peptide secretion detected on day 27 post-induction. Briefly, VSCBIC-1 medium preserves the colonies in both PE and premature/mature IPC statuses until day 14 since the last day of the IPC induction, while the IPCs in P.4.2

medium was seemingly found in mature IPC status. Additionally, the colony population in VSCBIC-1, which contains both PE and premature/mature IPCs, is suitable for transplantation with the following reasons. First, in vitro generated PE/premature IPCs would get more maturation after transplantation (Castaing et al., 2005; Kroon et al., 2008; Rezania et al., 2012; Shahjalal et al., 2014; Ma et al., 2018; Ikemoto et al., 2019). Second, PE cells could able to take a longer than mature IPCs for achieving the reversed hyperglycemia in DM patients due to the prolonged maturation period in vivo (Rezania et al., 2012; Rezania et al., 2014; Agulnick et al., 2015; Russ et al., 2015). Third, downregulation of Ki67 from IPCs in VSCBIC-1 indicated that the proliferation is inhibited, this might be safe for transplantation because of restricted invasion capacity (Choudhury et al., 2007; Velasco-Velázquez et al., 2009; Sarmadi et al., 2020). Fourth, the ability on releasing insulin/C-peptide upon high glucose stimulation was still responded when they were maintained in VSCBIC-1. Moreover, a lower expression of HLA on hESC-derived PE/premature IPCs permits maintenance of immune privilege (Azzarelli et al., 2017), this also indicated that PE/premature IPCs are more suitable for transplantation. Taken together, the potential of VSCBIC-1 medium is not only in preservation of IPCs, but also in production of RTU cAD-MSC-derived IPCs.

Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER VI

CONCLUSION

Briefly, we established the three-stepwise protocol for generating IPCs from cAD-MSCs for 13 days. Combined management of small molecules could induce proficient differentiation into DE, PE precursors and IPCs. Our findings suggested that cAD-MSCderived IPCs could be well-generated with our modified protocol. Moreover, these present results approved that the viability and functionality of ALGPA-encapsulated cAD-MSC-derived IPCs can be preserved for 14 days in specialized medium VSCBIC-1. For the further study, *in vivo* study is required to evaluate the safety and potential of clinical application of ALGPA-encapsulated cAD-MSC-derived IPCs.



REFERENCES



Chulalongkorn University

- Adams MT, Gilbert JM, Hinojosa Paiz J, Bowman FM and Blum B 2018. Endocrine cell type sorting and mature architecture in the islets of Langerhans require expression of Roundabout receptors in β cells. Scientific Reports. 8(1): 10876.
- Aggarwal S and Pittenger MF 2005. Human mesenchymal stem cells modulate allogeneic immune cell responses. Blood. 105(4): 1815-1822.
- Agulnick AD, Ambruzs DM, Moorman MA, Bhoumik A, Cesario RM, Payne JK, Kelly JR, Haakmeester C, Srijemac R, Wilson AZ, Kerr J, Frazier MA, Kroon EJ and D'Amour KA 2015. Insulin-Producing Endocrine Cells Differentiated In Vitro From Human Embryonic Stem Cells Function in Macroencapsulation Devices In Vivo. Stem Cells Transl Med. 4(10): 1214-1222.
- Aigha, II, Memon B, Elsayed AK and Abdelalim EM 2018. Differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells into two distinct NKX6.1 populations of pancreatic progenitors. Stem Cell Res Ther. 9(1): 83.
- Aigha II and Abdelalim EM 2020. NKX6.1 transcription factor: a crucial regulator of pancreatic β cell development, identity, and proliferation. Stem Cell Research & Therapy. 11(1): 459.
- Al Madhoun A, Ali H, AlKandari S, Atizado VL, Akhter N, Al-Mulla F and Atari M 2016. Defined threedimensional culture conditions mediate efficient induction of definitive endoderm lineage from human umbilical cord Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cell Res Ther. 7(1): 165.
- Ameri J, Ståhlberg A, Pedersen J, Johansson JK, Johannesson MM, Artner I and Semb H 2010. FGF2 specifies hESC-derived definitive endoderm into foregut/midgut cell lineages in a concentration-dependent manner. Stem Cells. 28(1): 45-56.
- Aoyagi K, Ohara-Imaizumi M, Nishiwaki C, Nakamichi Y, Ueki K, Kadowaki T and Nagamatsu S 2012. Acute inhibition of PI3K-PDK1-Akt pathway potentiates insulin secretion through upregulation of newcomer granule fusions in pancreatic β-cells. PLoS One. 7(10): e47381.
- Arda HE, Benitez CM and Kim SK 2013. Gene regulatory networks governing pancreas development. Dev Cell. 25(1): 5-13.
- Artasensi A, Pedretti A, Vistoli G and Fumagalli L 2020. Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A Review of Multi-Target Drugs. Molecules (Basel, Switzerland). 25(8): 1987.
- Azzarelli R, Hurley C, Sznurkowska MK, Rulands S, Hardwick L, Gamper I, Ali F, McCracken L, Hindley C, McDuff F, Nestorowa S, Kemp R, Jones K, Göttgens B, Huch M, Evan G, Simons BD, Winton D and Philpott A 2017. Multi-site Neurogenin3 Phosphorylation Controls Pancreatic Endocrine Differentiation. Dev Cell. 41(3): 274-286.e275.
- Baer PC, Griesche N, Luttmann W, Schubert R, Luttmann A and Geiger H 2010. Human adiposederived mesenchymal stem cells in vitro: evaluation of an optimal expansion medium preserving stemness. Cytotherapy. 12(1): 96-106.

- Barlow J, Solomon TPJ and Affourtit C 2018. Pro-inflammatory cytokines attenuate glucosestimulated insulin secretion from INS-1E insulinoma cells by restricting mitochondrial pyruvate oxidation capacity – Novel mechanistic insight from real-time analysis of oxidative phosphorylation. PLOS ONE. 13(6): e0199505.
- Barrow JR, Howell WD, Rule M, Hayashi S, Thomas KR, Capecchi MR and McMahon AP 2007. Wnt3 signaling in the epiblast is required for proper orientation of the anteroposterior axis. Dev Biol. 312(1): 312-320.
- Bendjennat M, Boulaire J, Jascur T, Brickner H, Barbier V, Sarasin A, Fotedar A and Fotedar R 2003. UV irradiation triggers ubiquitin-dependent degradation of p21(WAF1) to promote DNA repair. Cell. 114(5): 599-610.
- Bergamin CS and Dib SA 2015. Enterovirus and type 1 diabetes: What is the matter? World journal of diabetes. 6(6): 828-839.
- Betts DH and Tobias IC 2015. Canine Pluripotent Stem Cells: Are They Ready for Clinical Applications? Front Vet Sci. 2: 41.
- Bien-Willner GA, Stankiewicz P and Lupski JR 2007. SOX9cre1, a cis-acting regulatory element located 1.1 Mb upstream of SOX9, mediates its enhancement through the SHH pathway. Hum Mol Genet. 16(10): 1143-1156.
- Blanter M, Sork H, Tuomela S and Flodström-Tullberg M 2019. Genetic and Environmental Interaction in Type 1 Diabetes: a Relationship Between Genetic Risk Alleles and Molecular Traits of Enterovirus Infection? Curr Diab Rep. 19(9): 82.
- Calafiore R, Basta G, Luca G, Lemmi A, Montanucci MP, Calabrese G, Racanicchi L, Mancuso F and Brunetti P 2006. Microencapsulated pancreatic islet allografts into nonimmunosuppressed patients with type 1 diabetes: first two cases. Diabetes Care. 29(1): 137-138.
- Camara BOS, Ocarino NM, Bertassoli BM, Malm C, Araújo FR, Reis AMS, Jorge EC, Alves EGL and Serakides R 2021. Differentiation of canine adipose mesenchymal stem cells into insulinproducing cells: comparison of different culture medium compositions. Domest Anim Endocrinol. 74: 106572.
- Caronna EA, Patterson ES, Hummert PM and Kroll KL 2013. Geminin restrains mesendodermal fate acquisition of embryonic stem cells and is associated with antagonism of Wnt signaling and enhanced polycomb-mediated repression. Stem Cells. 31(8): 1477-1487.
- Castaing M, Duvillié B, Quemeneur E, Basmaciogullari A and Scharfmann R 2005. Ex vivo analysis of acinar and endocrine cell development in the human embryonic pancreas. Dev Dyn. 234(2): 339-345.
- Champeris Tsaniras S and Jones PM 2010. Generating pancreatic beta-cells from embryonic stem cells by manipulating signaling pathways. J Endocrinol. 206(1): 13-26.

- Chandra V, G S, Phadnis S, Nair PD and Bhonde RR 2009. Generation of pancreatic hormoneexpressing islet-like cell aggregates from murine adipose tissue-derived stem cells. Stem Cells. 27(8): 1941-1953.
- Chang-Chen KJ, Mullur R and Bernal-Mizrachi E 2008. Beta-cell failure as a complication of diabetes. Reviews in endocrine & metabolic disorders. 9(4): 329-343.
- Choudhury AR, Ju Z, Djojosubroto MW, Schienke A, Lechel A, Schaetzlein S, Jiang H, Stepczynska A, Wang C, Buer J, Lee HW, von Zglinicki T, Ganser A, Schirmacher P, Nakauchi H and Rudolph KL 2007. Cdkn1a deletion improves stem cell function and lifespan of mice with dysfunctional telomeres without accelerating cancer formation. Nat Genet. 39(1): 99-105.
- Chow L, Johnson V, Coy J, Regan D and Dow S 2017. Mechanisms of Immune Suppression Utilized by Canine Adipose and Bone Marrow-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells. Stem Cells Dev. 26(5): 374-389.
- Conlon FL, Lyons KM, Takaesu N, Barth KS, Kispert A, Herrmann B and Robertson EJ 1994. A primary requirement for nodal in the formation and maintenance of the primitive streak in the mouse. Development. 120(7): 1919-1928.
- Cras-Méneur C, Elghazi L, Czernichow P and Scharfmann R 2001. Epidermal growth factor increases undifferentiated pancreatic embryonic cells in vitro: a balance between proliferation and differentiation. Diabetes. 50(7): 1571-1579.
- D'Amour KA, Agulnick AD, Eliazer S, Kelly OG, Kroon E and Baetge EE 2005. Efficient differentiation of human embryonic stem cells to definitive endoderm. Nat Biotechnol. 23(12): 1534-1541.
- D'Amour KA, Bang AG, Eliazer S, Kelly OG, Agulnick AD, Smart NG, Moorman MA, Kroon E, Carpenter MK and Baetge EE 2006. Production of pancreatic hormone-expressing endocrine cells from human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol. 24(11): 1392-1401.
- Dave SD, Vanikar AV and Trivedi HL 2014. In-vitro generation of human adipose tissue derived insulin secreting cells: up-regulation of Pax-6, Ipf-1 and Isl-1. Cytotechnology. 66(2): 299-307.
- Dembczynski R and Jankowski T 2001. Determination of pore diameter and molecular weight cutoff of hydrogel-membrane liquid-core capsules for immunoisolation. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed. 12(9): 1051-1058.
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, Deans R, Keating A, Prockop D and Horwitz E 2006. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy. 8(4): 315-317.
- Duan W and Lopez MJ 2018. Canine Adult Adipose Tissue-Derived Multipotent Stromal Cell Isolation and Characterization. Methods Mol Biol. 1773: 189-202.
- El Idrissi A, Boukarrou L and L'Amoreaux W 2009. Taurine supplementation and pancreatic remodeling. Adv Exp Med Biol. 643: 353-358.

- Eom J, Feisst V, Ranjard L, Loomes K, Damani T, Jackson-Patel V, Locke M, Sheppard H, Narayan P and Dunbar PR 2018. Visualization and Quantification of Mesenchymal Cell Adipogenic Differentiation Potential with a Lineage Specific Marker. J Vis Exp. (133).
- Ferreira RC, Guo H, Coulson RM, Smyth DJ, Pekalski ML, Burren OS, Cutler AJ, Doecke JD, Flint S, McKinney EF, Lyons PA, Smith KG, Achenbach P, Beyerlein A, Dunger DB, Clayton DG, Wicker LS, Todd JA, Bonifacio E, Wallace C and Ziegler AG 2014. A type I interferon transcriptional signature precedes autoimmunity in children genetically at risk for type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 63(7): 2538-2550.
- Gabr MM, Zakaria MM, Refaie AF, Ismail AM, Khater SM, Ashamallah SA, Azzam MM and Ghoneim MA 2018. Insulin-producing Cells from Adult Human Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stromal Cells Could Control Chemically Induced Diabetes in Dogs: A Preliminary Study. Cell Transplant. 27(6): 937-947.
- Gere-Becker MB, Pommerenke C, Lingner T and Pieler T 2018. Retinoic acid-induced expression of Hnf1b and Fzd4 is required for pancreas development in Xenopus laevis. Development. 145(12).
- Gheibi S, Singh T, da Cunha J, Fex M and Mulder H 2020. Insulin/Glucose-Responsive Cells Derived from Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells: Disease Modeling and Treatment of Diabetes. Cells. 9(11).
- Gibly RF, Graham JG, Luo X, Lowe WL, Jr., Hering BJ and Shea LD 2011. Advancing islet transplantation: from engraftment to the immune response. Diabetologia. 54(10): 2494-2505.
- Gomez DL, O'Driscoll M, Sheets TP, Hruban RH, Oberholzer J, McGarrigle JJ and Shamblott MJ 2015. Neurogenin 3 Expressing Cells in the Human Exocrine Pancreas Have the Capacity for Endocrine Cell Fate. PLoS One. 10(8): e0133862.
- González-Garza MT, Cruz-Vega DE, Cárdenas-Lopez A, de la Rosa RM and Moreno-Cuevas JE 2018. Comparing stemness gene expression between stem cell subpopulations from peripheral blood and adipose tissue. Am J Stem Cells. 7(2): 38-47.
- Grohová A, Dá**ň**ová K, Špíšek R and Palová-Jelínková L 2019. Cell Based Therapy for Type 1 Diabetes: Should We Take Hyperglycemia Into Account? Front Immunol. 10: 79.
- Grzesiak J, Marycz K, Czogala J, Wrzeszcz K and Nicpon J 2011. Comparison of Behavior, Morphology and Morphometry of Equine and Canine Adipose Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Culture. International Journal of Morphology. 29: 1012-1017.
- Guercio A, Di Marco P, Casella S, Cannella V, Russotto L, Purpari G, Di Bella S and Piccione G 2012. Production of canine mesenchymal stem cells from adipose tissue and their application in dogs with chronic osteoarthritis of the humeroradial joints. Cell Biol Int. 36(2): 189-194.

- Guo T and Hebrok M 2009. Stem cells to pancreatic beta-cells: new sources for diabetes cell therapy. Endocr Rev. 30(3): 214-227.
- Han I, Kwon BS, Park HK and Kim KS 2017. Differentiation Potential of Mesenchymal Stem Cells Is Related to Their Intrinsic Mechanical Properties. Int Neurourol J. 21(Suppl 1): S24-31.
- Hass R, Kasper C, Böhm S and Jacobs R 2011. Different populations and sources of human mesenchymal stem cells (MSC): A comparison of adult and neonatal tissue-derived MSC. Cell Communication and Signaling. 9(1): 12.
- Hebrok M, Kim SK and Melton DA 1998. Notochord repression of endodermal Sonic hedgehog permits pancreas development. Genes & development. 12(11): 1705-1713.
- Heeley AM, O'Neill DG, Davison LJ, Church DB, Corless EK and Brodbelt DC 2020. Diabetes mellitus in dogs attending UK primary-care practices: frequency, risk factors and survival. Canine Medicine and Genetics. 7(1): 6.
- Hermansen K 1985. Forskolin, an activator of adenylate cyclase, stimulates pancreatic insulin, glucagon, and somatostatin release in the dog: studies in vitro. Endocrinology. 116(6): 2251-2258.
- Hori Y, Rulifson IC, Tsai BC, Heit JJ, Cahoy JD and Kim SK 2002. Growth inhibitors promote differentiation of insulin-producing tissue from embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 99(25): 16105-16110.
- Huang J, Guo X, Li W and Zhang H 2017. Activation of Wnt/ β -catenin signalling via GSK3 inhibitors direct differentiation of human adipose stem cells into functional hepatocytes. Scientific Reports. 7(1): 40716.
- Huang SJ, Fu RH, Shyu WC, Liu SP, Jong GP, Chiu YW, Wu HS, Tsou YA, Cheng CW and Lin SZ 2013. Adipose-derived stem cells: isolation, characterization, and differentiation potential. Cell Transplant. 22(4): 701-709.
- Hwang PT, Shah DK, Garcia JA, Bae CY, Lim DJ, Huiszoon RC, Alexander GC and Jun HW 2016. Progress and challenges of the bioartificial pancreas. Nano Converg. 3(1): 28.
- Hwang Y, Cha SH, Hong Y, Jung AR and Jun HS 2019. Direct differentiation of insulin-producing cells from human urine-derived stem cells. Int J Med Sci. 16(12): 1668-1676.
- Ikemoto T, Feng R, Iwahashi S-i, Yamada S, Saito Y, Morine Y, Imura S, Matsuhisa M and Shimada M 2019. In vitro and in vivo effects of insulin-producing cells generated by xeno-antigen free 3D culture with RCP piece. Scientific Reports. 9(1): 10759.
- Illing A, Stockmann M, Swamy Telugu N, Linta L, Russell R, Müller M, Seufferlein T, Liebau S and Kleger A 2013. Definitive Endoderm Formation from Plucked Human Hair-Derived Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells and SK Channel Regulation. Stem Cells Int. 2013: 360573.
- Ivanovska A, Grolli S, Borghetti P, Ravanetti F, Conti V, De Angelis E, Macchi F, Ramoni R, Martelli P, Gazza F and Cacchioli A 2017. Immunophenotypical characterization of canine

mesenchymal stem cells from perivisceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue by a speciesspecific panel of antibodies. Res Vet Sci. 114: 51-58.

- Jacobson EF and Tzanakakis ES 2017. Human pluripotent stem cell differentiation to functional pancreatic cells for diabetes therapies: Innovations, challenges and future directions. J Biol Eng. 11: 21.
- Jara C, Oyarzun-Ampuero F, Carrión F, González-Echeverría E, Cappelli C and Caviedes P 2020. Microencapsulation of cellular aggregates composed of differentiated insulin and glucagonproducing cells from human mesenchymal stem cells derived from adipose tissue. Diabetology & Metabolic Syndrome. 12(1): 66.
- Jennings RE, Berry AA, Strutt JP, Gerrard DT and Hanley NA 2015. Human pancreas development. Development. 142(18): 3126-3137.
- Jiang F-X and Morahan G 2011. Pancreatic Stem Cells: Unresolved Business. Stem Cells in Clinic and Research.
- Jiang FX, Li K, Archer M, Mehta M, Jamieson E, Charles A, Dickinson JE, Matsumoto M and Morahan G 2017. Differentiation of Islet Progenitors Regulated by Nicotinamide into Transcriptome-Verified β Cells That Ameliorate Diabetes. Stem Cells. 35(5): 1341-1354.
- Kim H-W, Song W-J, Li Q, Han S-M, Jeon K-O, Park S-C, Ryu M-O, Chae H-K, Kyeong K and Youn H-Y 2016. Canine adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate severe acute pancreatitis by regulating T cells in rats. J Vet Sci. 17(4): 539-548.

Kirkham GR and Cartmell SH 2007. Genes and proteins involved in the regulation of osteogenesis.

- Kisiel AH, McDuffee LA, Masaoud E, Bailey TR, Esparza Gonzalez BP and Nino-Fong R 2012. Isolation, characterization, and in vitro proliferation of canine mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow, adipose tissue, muscle, and periosteum. Am J Vet Res. 73(8): 1305-1317.
- Kojayan GG, Flores A, Li S, Alexander M and Lakey JRT 2019. Cryopreserved Alginate-Encapsulated Islets Can Restore Euglycemia in a Diabetic Animal Model Better than Cryopreserved Nonencapsulated Islets. Cell Medicine. 11: 2155179019876641.
- Kolf CM, Cho E and Tuan RS 2007. Mesenchymal stromal cells. Biology of adult mesenchymal stem cells: regulation of niche, self-renewal and differentiation. Arthritis Res Ther. 9(1): 204.
- Konagaya S and Iwata H 2019. Chemically defined conditions for long-term maintenance of pancreatic progenitors derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Scientific Reports. 9(1): 640.
- Krentz NAJ and Gloyn AL 2020. Insights into pancreatic islet cell dysfunction from type 2 diabetes mellitus genetics. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 16(4): 202-212.
- Kroon E, Martinson LA, Kadoya K, Bang AG, Kelly OG, Eliazer S, Young H, Richardson M, Smart NG, Cunningham J, Agulnick AD, D'Amour KA, Carpenter MK and Baetge EE 2008. Pancreatic

endoderm derived from human embryonic stem cells generates glucose-responsive insulin-secreting cells in vivo. Nat Biotechnol. 26(4): 443-452.

- Kubo A, Shinozaki K, Shannon JM, Kouskoff V, Kennedy M, Woo S, Fehling HJ and Keller G 2004. Development of definitive endoderm from embryonic stem cells in culture. Development. 131(7): 1651-1662.
- Kuncorojakti S, Rodprasert W, Yodmuang S, Osathanon T, Pavasant P, Srisuwatanasagul S and Sawangmake C 2020. Alginate/Pluronic F127-based encapsulation supports viability and functionality of human dental pulp stem cell-derived insulin-producing cells. J Biol Eng. 14: 23.
- Kunisada Y, Tsubooka-Yamazoe N, Shoji M and Hosoya M 2012. Small molecules induce efficient differentiation into insulin-producing cells from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Res. 8(2): 274-284.
- Lee J-H, Lee J-H and Rane SG 2020. TGF- β Signaling in Pancreatic Islet β Cell Development and Function. Endocrinology. 162(3).
- Lee JC, Smith SB, Watada H, Lin J, Scheel D, Wang J, Mirmira RG and German MS 2001. Regulation of the Pancreatic Pro-Endocrine Gene Neurogenin3. Diabetes. 50(5): 928-936.
- Leech CA, Dzhura I, Chepurny OG, Kang G, Schwede F, Genieser HG and Holz GG 2011. Molecular physiology of glucagon-like peptide-1 insulin secretagogue action in pancreatic β cells. Prog Biophys Mol Biol. 107(2): 236-247.
- Legøy TA, Vethe H, Abadpour S, Strand BL, Scholz H, Paulo JA, Ræder H, Ghila L and Chera S 2020. Encapsulation boosts islet-cell signature in differentiating human induced pluripotent stem cells via integrin signalling. Scientific Reports. 10(1): 414.
- Lilly MA, Davis MF, Fabie JE, Terhune EB and Gallicano GI 2016. Current stem cell based therapies in diabetes. American journal of stem cells. 5(3): 87-98.
- Lindner U, Kramer J, Rohwedel J and Schlenke P 2010. Mesenchymal Stem or Stromal Cells: Toward a Better Understanding of Their Biology? Transfus Med Hemother. 37(2): 75-83.
- Lippens E, Swennen I, Gironès J, Declercq H, Vertenten G, Vlaminck L, Gasthuys F, Schacht E and Cornelissen R 2013. Cell survival and proliferation after encapsulation in a chemically modified Pluronic(R) F127 hydrogel. J Biomater Appl. 27(7): 828-839.
- Liu H, Wang Y, Wang H, Zhao M, Tao T, Zhang X and Qin J 2020a. A Droplet Microfluidic System to Fabricate Hybrid Capsules Enabling Stem Cell Organoid Engineering. Advanced Science. 7(11): 1903739.
- Liu P, Wakamiya M, Shea MJ, Albrecht U, Behringer RR and Bradley A 1999. Requirement for Wnt3 in vertebrate axis formation. Nat Genet. 22(4): 361-365.
- Liu Q, Chiu A, Wang L-H, An D, Zhong M, Smink AM, de Haan BJ, de Vos P, Keane K, Vegge A, Chen EY, Song W, Liu WF, Flanders J, Rescan C, Grunnet LG, Wang X and Ma M 2019. Zwitterionically modified alginates mitigate cellular overgrowth for cell encapsulation. Nature Communications. 10(1): 5262.
- Liu X, Qin J, Chang M, Wang S, Li Y, Pei X and Wang Y 2020b. Enhanced differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells into pancreatic endocrine cells in 3D culture by inhibition of focal adhesion kinase. Stem Cell Research & Therapy. 11(1): 488.
- Ma H, Wert KJ, Shvartsman D, Melton DA and Jaenisch R 2018. Establishment of human pluripotent stem cell-derived pancreatic β -like cells in the mouse pancreas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 115(15): 3924-3929.
- Márquez-Aguirre AL, Canales-Aguirre AA, Padilla-Camberos E, Esquivel-Solis H and Díaz-Martínez NE 2015. Development of the endocrine pancreas and novel strategies for β -cell mass restoration and diabetes therapy. Braz J Med Biol Res. 48(9): 765-776.
- Mattin M, O'Neill D, Church D, McGreevy PD, Thomson PC and Brodbelt D 2014. An epidemiological study of diabetes mellitus in dogs attending first opinion practice in the UK. Vet Rec. 174(14): 349.
- McCracken KW and Wells JM 2012. Molecular pathways controlling pancreas induction. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 23(6): 656-662.
- Mfopou JK, Chen B, Mateizel I, Sermon K and Bouwens L 2010. Noggin, retinoids, and fibroblast growth factor regulate hepatic or pancreatic fate of human embryonic stem cells. Gastroenterology. 138(7): 2233-2245, 2245.e2231-2214.
- Molly McAllister KOB, Kate Scheofsky, Julie Heade, Kim Van Syoc, Elizabeth Lund, Daniel S. Aja 2016. State of Pet Health 2016 Report, <u>https://www.banfield.com/state-of-pet-health</u>.
- Nantavisai S, Pisitkun T, Osathanon T, Pavasant P, Kalpravidh C, Dhitavat S, Makjaroen J and Sawangmake C 2020. Systems biology analysis of osteogenic differentiation behavior by canine mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow and dental pulp. Scientific Reports. 10(1): 20703.
- Nantavisai S, Rodprasert W, Pathanachai K, Wikran P, Kitcharoenthaworn P, Smithiwong S, Archasappawat S and Sawangmak C 2019. Simvastatin enhances proliferation and pluripotent gene expression by canine bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (cBM-MSCs) in vitro. Heliyon. 5(10): e02663.
- Naujok O, Diekmann U and Lenzen S 2014. The generation of definitive endoderm from human embryonic stem cells is initially independent from activin A but requires canonical Wntsignaling. Stem Cell Rev Rep. 10(4): 480-493.

- Neupane M, Chang CC, Kiupel M and Yuzbasiyan-Gurkan V 2008. Isolation and characterization of canine adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Tissue Eng Part A. 14(6): 1007-1015.
- Niessen SJM, Hazuchova K, Powney SL, Guitian J, Niessen APM, Pion PD, Shaw JA and Church DB 2017. The Big Pet Diabetes Survey: Perceived Frequency and Triggers for Euthanasia. Veterinary sciences. 4(2): 27.
- Noble JA 2015. Immunogenetics of type 1 diabetes: A comprehensive review. J Autoimmun. 64: 101-112.
- Nostro MC, Sarangi F, Ogawa S, Holtzinger A, Corneo B, Li X, Micallef SJ, Park IH, Basford C, Wheeler MB, Daley GQ, Elefanty AG, Stanley EG and Keller G 2011. Stage-specific signaling through TGFβ family members and WNT regulates patterning and pancreatic specification of human pluripotent stem cells. Development. 138(5): 861-871.
- Nostro MC, Sarangi F, Yang C, Holland A, Elefanty AG, Stanley EG, Greiner DL and Keller G 2015. Efficient generation of NKX6-1+ pancreatic progenitors from multiple human pluripotent stem cell lines. Stem Cell Reports. 4(4): 591-604.
- O'Neill DG, Gostelow R, Orme C, Church DB, Niessen SJ, Verheyen K and Brodbelt DC 2016. Epidemiology of Diabetes Mellitus among 193,435 Cats Attending Primary-Care Veterinary Practices in England. J Vet Intern Med. 30(4): 964-972.
- Ohmine S, Squillace KA, Hartjes KA, Deeds MC, Armstrong AS, Thatava T, Sakuma T, Terzic A, Kudva Y and Ikeda Y 2012. Reprogrammed keratinocytes from elderly type 2 diabetes patients suppress senescence genes to acquire induced pluripotency. Aging (Albany NY). 4(1): 60-73.
- Öström M, Loffler KA, Edfalk S, Selander L, Dahl U, Ricordi C, Jeon J, Correa-Medina M, Diez J and Edlund H 2008. Retinoic Acid Promotes the Generation of Pancreatic Endocrine Progenitor Cells and Their Further Differentiation into β -Cells. PLOS ONE. 3(7): e2841.
- Paula ACC, Martins TMM, Zonari A, Frade SPPJ, Angelo PC, Gomes DA and Goes AM 2015. Human adipose tissue-derived stem cells cultured in xeno-free culture condition enhance c-MYC expression increasing proliferation but bypassing spontaneous cell transformation. Stem cell research & therapy. 6(1): 76-76.
- Pavathuparambil Abdul Manaph N, Sivanathan KN, Nitschke J, Zhou X-F, Coates PT and Drogemuller CJ 2019. An overview on small molecule-induced differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells into beta cells for diabetic therapy. Stem Cell Research & Therapy. 10(1): 293.
- Pérez-Luna VH and González-Reynoso O 2018. Encapsulation of Biological Agents in Hydrogels for Therapeutic Applications. Gels (Basel, Switzerland). 4(3): 61.

- Piccand J, Strasser P, Hodson DJ, Meunier A, Ye T, Keime C, Birling MC, Rutter GA and Gradwohl G 2014. Rfx6 maintains the functional identity of adult pancreatic β cells. Cell Rep. 9(6): 2219-2232.
- Ramezanzadeh Andevari R, Hashemi-Najafabadi S and Bagheri F 2018. Immunoisolation of stem cells by simultaneous encapsulation and PEGylation. Prog Biomater. 7(1): 55-60.
- Rand JS, Fleeman LM, Farrow HA, Appleton DJ and Lederer R 2004. Canine and feline diabetes mellitus: nature or nurture? J Nutr. 134(8 Suppl): 2072s-2080s.
- Rewers M and Ludvigsson J 2016. Environmental risk factors for type 1 diabetes. Lancet (London, England). 387(10035): 2340-2348.
- Rezania A, Bruin JE, Arora P, Rubin A, Batushansky I, Asadi A, O'Dwyer S, Quiskamp N, Mojibian M, Albrecht T, Yang YHC, Johnson JD and Kieffer TJ 2014. Reversal of diabetes with insulinproducing cells derived in vitro from human pluripotent stem cells. Nature Biotechnology. 32(11): 1121-1133.
- Rezania A, Bruin JE, Riedel MJ, Mojibian M, Asadi A, Xu J, Gauvin R, Narayan K, Karanu F, O'Neil JJ, Ao Z, Warnock GL and Kieffer TJ 2012. Maturation of human embryonic stem cell-derived pancreatic progenitors into functional islets capable of treating pre-existing diabetes in mice. Diabetes. 61(8): 2016-2029.
- Richardson T, Kumta PN and Banerjee I 2014. Alginate encapsulation of human embryonic stem cells to enhance directed differentiation to pancreatic islet-like cells. Tissue Eng Part A. 20(23-24): 3198-3211.
- Rodprasert W, Nantavisai S, Pathanachai K, Pavasant P, Osathanon T and Sawangmake C 2021. Tailored generation of insulin producing cells from canine mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow and adipose tissue. Scientific Reports. 11(1): 12409.
- Roglic G 2016. WHO Global report on diabetes: A summary. International Journal of Noncommunicable Diseases. 1(1): 3-8.
- Russ HA, Parent AV, Ringler JJ, Hennings TG, Nair GG, Shveygert M, Guo T, Puri S, Haataja L, Cirulli V, Blelloch R, Szot GL, Arvan P and Hebrok M 2015. Controlled induction of human pancreatic progenitors produces functional beta-like cells in vitro. Embo j. 34(13): 1759-1772.
- Saeedi P, Petersohn I, Salpea P, Malanda B, Karuranga S, Unwin N, Colagiuri S, Guariguata L, Motala AA, Ogurtsova K, Shaw JE, Bright D and Williams R 2019. Global and regional diabetes prevalence estimates for 2019 and projections for 2030 and 2045: Results from the International Diabetes Federation Diabetes Atlas, 9(th) edition. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 157: 107843.
- Sarmadi VH, Ahmadloo S, Boroojerdi MH, John CM, al-Graitte SJR, Lawal H, Maqbool M, Hwa LK and Ramasamy R 2020. Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells-mediated Transcriptomic Regulation

of Leukemic Cells in Delivering Anti-tumorigenic Effects. Cell Transplantation. 29: 0963689719885077.

- Sasaki A, Mizuno M, Ozeki N, Katano H, Otabe K, Tsuji K, Koga H, Mochizuki M and Sekiya I 2018. Canine mesenchymal stem cells from synovium have a higher chondrogenic potential than those from infrapatellar fat pad, adipose tissue, and bone marrow. PLOS ONE. 13(8): e0202922.
- Sawangmake C, Nantavisai S, Osathanon T and Pavasant P 2016. Osteogenic differentiation potential of canine bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells under different β glycerophosphate concentrations in vitro. The Thai Journal of Veterinary Medicine. 46(4): 617-625.
- Sawangmake C, Nowwarote N, Pavasant P, Chansiripornchai P and Osathanon T 2014a. A feasibility study of an in vitro differentiation potential toward insulin-producing cells by dental tissuederived mesenchymal stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 452(3): 581-587.
- Sawangmake C, Pavasant P, Chansiripornchai P and Osathanon T 2014b. High glucose condition suppresses neurosphere formation by human periodontal ligament-derived mesenchymal stem cells. J Cell Biochem. 115(5): 928-939.
- Sawangmake C, Rodprasert W, Osathanon T and Pavasant P 2020. Integrative protocols for an in vitro generation of pancreatic progenitors from human dental pulp stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 530(1): 222-229.
- Shahjalal HM, Shiraki N, Sakano D, Kikawa K, Ogaki S, Baba H, Kume K and Kume S 2014. Generation of insulin-producing β-like cells from human iPS cells in a defined and completely xeno-free culture system. J Mol Cell Biol. 6(5): 394-408.

Shim JH, Kim SE, Woo DH, Kim SK, Oh CH, McKay R and Kim JH 2007. Directed differentiation of human embryonic stem cells towards a pancreatic cell fate. Diabetologia. 50(6): 1228-1238.

Shulman GI 2000. Cellular mechanisms of insulin resistance. J Clin Invest. 106(2): 171-176.

- Soedarmanto A 2020. Recovery of isolated pancreatic islet derived from gut leak-induced diabetes type II mouse model. Chulalongkorn.
- Soria B, Roche E, Berná G, León-Quinto T, Reig JA and Martín F 2000. Insulin-secreting cells derived from embryonic stem cells normalize glycemia in streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice. Diabetes. 49(2): 157-162.
- Sun Y, Chen L, Hou XG, Hou WK, Dong JJ, Sun L, Tang KX, Wang B, Song J, Li H and Wang KX 2007. Differentiation of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells from diabetic patients into insulin-producing cells in vitro. Chin Med J (Engl). 120(9): 771-776.
- Tada S, Era T, Furusawa C, Sakurai H, Nishikawa S, Kinoshita M, Nakao K, Chiba T and Nishikawa S 2005. Characterization of mesendoderm: a diverging point of the definitive endoderm and

mesoderm in embryonic stem cell differentiation culture. Development. 132(19): 4363-4374.

- Takemitsu H, Zhao D, Yamamoto I, Harada Y, Michishita M and Arai T 2012. Comparison of bone marrow and adipose tissue-derived canine mesenchymal stem cells. BMC Vet Res. 8: 150.
- Tan M, Jiang L, Li Y and Jiang W 2019. Dual Inhibition of BMP and WNT Signals Promotes Pancreatic Differentiation from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells. Stem Cells Int. 2019: 5026793.
- Teo AK, Valdez IA, Dirice E and Kulkarni RN 2014. Comparable generation of activin-induced definitive endoderm via additive Wnt or BMP signaling in absence of serum. Stem Cell Reports. 3(1): 5-14.
- Teshima T, Matsuoka A, Shiba M, Dairaku K, Matsumoto H, Suzuki R and Koyama H 2019. Comparison of properties of stem cells isolated from adipose tissue and lipomas in dogs. Stem cells international. 2019.
- Teshima T, Okamoto K, Dairaku K, Nagashima T, Michishita M, Suzuki R, Matsumoto H and Koyama H 2020. Generation of Insulin-Producing Cells from Canine Adipose Tissue-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells. Stem Cells International. 2020: 8841865.
- Thorens B 2015. GLUT2, glucose sensing and glucose homeostasis. Diabetologia. 58(2): 221-232.
- Timper K, Seboek D, Eberhardt M, Linscheid P, Christ-Crain M, Keller U, Müller B and Zulewski H 2006. Human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells differentiate into insulin, somatostatin, and glucagon expressing cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 341(4): 1135-1140.
- Toren-Haritan G and Efrat S 2015. TGF β Pathway Inhibition Redifferentiates Human Pancreatic Islet β Cells Expanded In Vitro. PLOS ONE. 10(9): e0139168.
- Vanikar AV, Trivedi HL and Thakkar UG 2016. Stem cell therapy emerging as the key player in treating type 1 diabetes mellitus. Cytotherapy. 18(9): 1077-1086.
- Vegas AJ, Veiseh O, Gürtler M, Millman JR, Pagliuca FW, Bader AR, Doloff JC, Li J, Chen M, Olejnik K,
 Tam HH, Jhunjhunwala S, Langan E, Aresta-Dasilva S, Gandham S, McGarrigle JJ, Bochenek
 MA, Hollister-Lock J, Oberholzer J, Greiner DL, Weir GC, Melton DA, Langer R and Anderson
 DG 2016. Long-term glycemic control using polymer-encapsulated human stem cell–
 derived beta cells in immune-competent mice. Nature Medicine. 22(3): 306-311.
- Velasco-Velázquez MA, Yu Z, Jiao X and Pestell RG 2009. Cancer stem cells and the cell cycle: targeting the drive behind breast cancer. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 9(3): 275-279.
- Voga M, Drnovsek N, Novak S and Majdic G 2019. Silk fibroin induces chondrogenic differentiation of canine adipose-derived multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells/mesenchymal stem cells. J Tissue Eng. 10: 2041731419835056.

- Wall DS, Mears AJ, McNeill B, Mazerolle C, Thurig S, Wang Y, Kageyama R and Wallace VA 2009. Progenitor cell proliferation in the retina is dependent on Notch-independent Sonic hedgehog/Hes1 activity. J Cell Biol. 184(1): 101-112.
- Wan QF, Dong Y, Yang H, Lou X, Ding J and Xu T 2004. Protein kinase activation increases insulin secretion by sensitizing the secretory machinery to Ca2+. J Gen Physiol. 124(6): 653-662.
- Wang N, Adams G, Buttery L, Falcone FH and Stolnik S 2009. Alginate encapsulation technology supports embryonic stem cells differentiation into insulin-producing cells. J Biotechnol. 144(4): 304-312.
- Westenfelder C, Gooch A, Hu Z, Ahlstrom J and Zhang P 2017. Durable Control of Autoimmune Diabetes in Mice Achieved by Intraperitoneal Transplantation of "Neo-Islets," Three-Dimensional Aggregates of Allogeneic Islet and "Mesenchymal Stem Cells". STEM CELLS Translational Medicine. 6(7): 1631-1643.
- Wlizla M and Zorn AM 2015. Chapter 13 Vertebrate Endoderm Formation. In: Principles of Developmental Genetics (Second Edition). Sally A. Moody (ed). Oxford: Academic Press. 237-253.
- Wong RS 2011. Extrinsic factors involved in the differentiation of stem cells into insulin-producing cells: an overview. Exp Diabetes Res. 2011: 406182.
- Woodford C, Yin T, Chang HH, Regeenes R, Vellanki RN, Mohan H, Wouters BG, Rocheleau JV, Wheeler MB and Zandstra PW 2020. Nicotinamide promotes differentiation of pancreatic endocrine progenitors from human pluripotent stem cells through poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibition. bioRxiv. 2020.2004.2021.052951.
- Xu B, Fan D, Zhao Y, Li J, Wang Z, Wang J, Wang X, Guan Z and Niu B 2020. Three-Dimensional Culture Promotes the Differentiation of Human Dental Pulp Mesenchymal Stem Cells Into Insulin-Producing Cells for Improving the Diabetes Therapy. Frontiers in pharmacology. 10: 1576-1576.
- Yang SF, Xue WJ, Duan YF, Xie LY, Lu WH, Zheng J and Yin AP 2015. Nicotinamide Facilitates Mesenchymal Stem Cell Differentiation Into Insulin-Producing Cells and Homing to Pancreas in Diabetic Mice. Transplant Proc. 47(6): 2041-2049.
- Zanini C, Bruno S, Mandili G, Baci D, Cerutti F, Cenacchi G, Izzi L, Camussi G and Forni M 2011. Differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells derived from pancreatic islets and bone marrow into islet-like cell phenotype. PLoS One. 6(12): e28175.
- Zaret KS and Grompe M 2008. Generation and regeneration of cells of the liver and pancreas. Science. 322(5907): 1490-1494.
- Zhou X, Sasaki H, Lowe L, Hogan BL and Kuehn MR 1993. Nodal is a novel TGF-beta-like gene expressed in the mouse node during gastrulation. Nature. 361(6412): 543-547.

- Zhu FF, Zhang PB, Zhang DH, Sui X, Yin M, Xiang TT, Shi Y, Ding MX and Deng H 2011. Generation of pancreatic insulin-producing cells from rhesus monkey induced pluripotent stem cells. Diabetologia. 54(9): 2325-2336.
- Zuk PA, Zhu M, Ashjian P, De Ugarte DA, Huang JI, Mizuno H, Alfonso ZC, Fraser JK, Benhaim P and Hedrick MH 2002. Human adipose tissue is a source of multipotent stem cells. Mol Biol Cell. 13(12): 4279-4295.



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

VITA

NAME Quynh Le Dang

DATE OF BIRTH 01 September 1992

PLACE OF BIRTH Binh Duong

INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED Nong Lam University, Vietnam

HOME ADDRESS

367A, Hung Loc, Hung Dinh, Thuan An, Binh Duong,



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University